Journal of Neuroimmunology xxx (2016) xxx-xxx



Contents lists available at ScienceDirect

Journal of Neuroimmunology



journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/jneuroim

Review article

Modulation of host immune responses following non-hematopoietic stem cell transplantation: Translational implications in progressive multiple sclerosis

Giulio Volpe^{a,c,1}, Joshua D. Bernstock^{a,b,1,2}, Luca Peruzzotti-Jametti^{a,c,1}, Stefano Pluchino^{a,*}

^a Department of Clinical Neurosciences, John van Geest Centre for Brain Repair, Wellcome Trust-MRC Stem Cell Institute, NIHR Biomedical Research Centre, University of Cambridge, Cambridge, UK ^b Stroke Branch, National Institute of Neurological Disorders and Stroke, National Institutes of Health (NINDS/NIH), Bethesda, MD, USA

^c University of Cambridge, Clifford Allbutt Building - Cambridge Biosciences Campus, Hills Road, CB2 0AH Cambridge, UK

ARTICLE INFO

Article history: Received 30 September 2016 Received in revised form 5 December 2016 Accepted 12 December 2016 Available online xxxx

Keywords: Multiple sclerosis Stem cells Non-hematopoietic stem cells Neural stem cells Mesenchymal stem cells Experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis Regenerative medicine

ABSTRACT

There exists an urgent need for effective treatments for those patients suffering from chronic/progressive multiple sclerosis (MS). Accordingly, it has become readily apparent that different classes of stem cell-based therapies must be explored at both the basic science and clinical levels. Herein, we provide an overview of the basic mechanisms underlying the pre-clinical benefits of exogenously delivered non-hematopoietic stem cells (nHSCs) in animal models of MS. Further, we highlight a number of early clinical trials in which nHSCs have been used to treat MS. Finally, we identify a series of challenges that must be met and ultimately overcome if such promising therapeutics are to be advanced from the bench to the bedside.

© 2016 Published by Elsevier B.V.

Contents

1.	Introduction	0
2.	Evidence from disease/pathway models	0
	2.1. Mesenchymal stem cells (MSCs)	0
	2.1.1. Systemic delivery of MSCs	0
	2.1.2. Local delivery of MSCs	0
	2.2. Neural stem/precursor cells (NSCs)	0
	2.2.1. Systemic delivery of NSCs.	0
	2.2.2. Local delivery of NSCs	0
	2.3. Induced pluripotent stem cells (iPSC)	0
3.	Stem cell clinical trials in multiple sclerosis (MS)	0
	3.1. Current MS clinical trials - Search stratagem and criteria for inclusion	0
	3.1.1. Clinical trials with MSCs	0
	3.1.2. Clinical trials with NSCs	0
	3.1.3. Clinical trials with iPSCs	0
4.	Future directions of stem based clinical therapies	0
5.	Challenges to the effective translational of stem cell therapeutics in MS	0
6.	Conclusions	0

* Corresponding author at: University of Cambridge, Clifford Allbutt Building - Cambridge Biosciences Campus, Hills Road, CB2 0AH Cambridge, UK.

E-mail addresses: gv265@cam.ac.uk (G. Volpe), bernstockjd@ninds.nih.gov (J.D. Bernstock), lp429@cam.ac.uk (L. Peruzzotti-Jametti), spp24@cam.ac.uk (S. Pluchino).

¹ These authors contributed equally to this work.

² Building 10, Room 5B06, MSC 1401, 10 Center Drive, Bethesda, MD 20892, USA.

http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jneuroim.2016.12.005 0165-5728/© 2016 Published by Elsevier B.V.

ARTICLE IN PRESS

G. Volpe et al. / Journal of Neuroimmunology xxx (2016) xxx-xxx

Conflict of interest	 	 	 							 	 								 0
Acknowledgements .	 	 	 							 	 						 •		 0
References	 	 	 					 •	 •	 •	 				 •		 •	•	 0

1. Introduction

Multiple sclerosis (MS) is an autoimmune disease of the central nervous system (CNS) characterized by the dissemination of lesions throughout the brain and spinal cord, whose pathological hallmarks are variable degrees of inflammation, demyelination and axonal loss (Compston and Coles, 2002). In the majority of MS patients, the disease begins with a relapsing course (RRMS) followed by a progressive phase during which the gradual accumulation of a series of neurological disabilities becomes pronounced (secondary progressive, SPMS) (Lublin and Reingold, 1996; Lublin et al., 2014; Scalfari et al., 2014). When progression is observed from the onset without preceding relapses or remissions, the clinical course is defined as primary progressive (PPMS) (Ebers, 2004). Clinically, the transition from a RR to progressive phenotype marks the passage from a treatment responsive form of the disease to one that is refractory to currently available disease modifying treatments (DMTs) (Comi, 2013). Given the challenges associated with the treatment of patients who present with progressive MS, the importance of identifying the underlying pathobiological mechanisms that govern the transition from RR to progressive are at the center of current MS research (Lassmann et al., 2007). Accordingly, it has now become increasingly clear that many of the pathological events that characterize disease activity during acute inflammatory relapses can in fact be discerned from those that occur during progression, thereby highlighting the possibility of ultimately developing novel therapies capable of targeting chronic/progressive MS (Lassmann et al., 2012, Lublin et al., 2014).

Advances in histopathology, magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) and experimental animal models have recently contributed to the identification of novel aspects of MS pathophysiology. Such work has highlighted a complex role for immune responses in different MS phenotypes. The activation of the immune system has been recognized as a dynamic phenomenon, which not only drives tissue damage over the course of disease but may also influence brain repair/recovery via the modulation of functional and/or structural plasticity (Mallucci et al., 2015). In particular, the development of ultra-high-field scanners and the adoption of quantitative MRI techniques have contributed to identification of novel features of progressive MS pathology (Filippi and Rocca, 2005; Filippi et al., 2016; Rovaris et al., 2008). Quantitative MRI analysis has demonstrated the presence of diffuse neuronal tissue damage and concurrently highlighted the presence of cortical involvement in progressive forms of MS (Favaretto et al., 2015; Filippi and Rocca, 2005). Such findings have also been correlated with histological evidence, which collectively reveal the presence of diffuse normal appearing white matter (NAWM) inflammation driven by resident activated microglial cells (Rissanen et al., 2014).

Such results, when coupled to the reduced efficacy of DMTs (primarily targeting T and B cells) and to the limited radiological evidence of blood brain barrier (BBB) damage in progressive MS, have come to suggest that the pathophysiologic mechanisms occurring in late MS cases may reflect the compartmentalization of CNS neuroinflammation (Kutzelnigg et al., 2005). Further studies have provided additional emphasis by demonstrating that the cortical lesions in SPMS are associated with meningeal structures that are similar to the secondary B cell follicles contained within germinal centers (Serafini et al., 2004). This ectopic lymphoid tissue contains proliferating B cells, plasma cells, T cells and a network of follicular dendritic cells (FDC) and as such acts in similar manner to the aggregates witnessed in other organ-specific autoimmune diseases (*i.e.* Hashimoto's thyroiditis, myasthenia gravis and Sjogren's syndrome) (Aloisi and Pujol-Borrell, 2006), all of which have been related to the production of autoantibodies leading to the accumulation of tissue damage. Of note, these meningeal infiltrates in SPMS patients have been related to levels of cortical pathology (Magliozzi et al., 2007; Magliozzi et al., 2010), yet there is no evidence of similar structures in PPMS cases (Choi et al., 2012). The presence of B cell follicles supports the long standing clinical evidence of persistent oligoclonal bands (OCB) in the CSF of MS patients (Meinl et al., 2006), and also suggests that the CNS is capable of providing the required support needed for the long-term, *in situ* maintenance of B cells (Meinl et al., 2006). In summary CNS compartmentalized inflammation appears to dominate the pathobiology of progressive MS subtypes via the promotion of an environment favorable for progressive tissue degeneration (Lassmann, 2012; Meinl et al., 2008).

Understanding the spatial and temporal nature of inflammation throughout the clinical course of MS, it is reasonable to assume that the eradication of self-reactive immune cells via intense immunosuppression and/or immune reconstitution via the engraftment of autologous hematopoietic stem cells (HSC) would stabilize/improve patient outcomes in those suffering from severe forms of RRMS (Kimiskidis et al., 2008; Mancardi and Saccardi, 2008; Mancardi et al., 2005). Nonetheless, such approaches have not been effective for those patients with progressive forms of disease and/or high pre-transplantation disability scores. One such explanation for this failure may relate to the inability of such treatment paradigms to influence inflammation once it has been compartmentalized within the CNS (Bowen et al., 2012; Burt et al., 2003; Mancardi and Saccardi, 2008; Shevchenko et al., 2012). Advances in non-hematopoietic stem cell (nHSC) research are of particular interest in the context of chronic/progressive MS as per the recognition of their immune modulatory and neurotrophic actions in preclinical models of MS (Pluchino et al., 2009a; Pluchino et al., 2003; Pluchino et al., 2005). Contrary to single target based pharmaceutical interventions. nHSCs may be thought of as dynamic molecular medicines (Fischbach et al., 2013). nHSCs are capable of modulating the affected microenvironment present in progressive forms of MS via the secretion of paracrine factors, cell-to-cell interactions and/or exosome-mediated signalling, without the application of intensive pre-transplantation immune-ablation protocols (Cossetti et al., 2012).

In this review, we focus on the role of nHSCs in regulating both innate and adaptive immune responses in experimental models of MS. In particular, we explore the immune modulatory and tissue trophic proprieties of mesenchymal (MSCs) and neural stem cells (NSCs) that have been observed in both pre-clinical studies and early attempts to advance such therapies from the bench to the bedside. It is the authors' content that the successful translation of nHSC therapies will require the continued evaluation of both route(s) of transplantation and the underlying biology of the stem cell graft. Accordingly, we describe the benefits observed after either local or systemic nHSC transplantation and briefly highlight recent advances/clinical implications in stem cell reprogramming.

2. Evidence from disease/pathway models

2.1. Mesenchymal stem cells (MSCs)

MSCs are made up of a multipotent non-hematopoietic precursor cell population, which were first described within the bone marrow (BM) (Friedenstein et al., 1974) and then in the stroma of a wide range of additional tissues including adipose (AT) and those associated

with birth (*e.g.* decidua, umbilical cord, etc.) (Fraser et al., 2006; In 't Anker et al., 2004; Uccelli et al., 2008).

While the primary physiologic role of BM-MSCs is to support the processes underlying hematopoiesis (Mendez-Ferrer et al., 2010) recent studies have gone on to expand the biologic potential of MSCs and have come to suggest that MSCs may possess additional properties, including an ability to transdifferentiate into endodermal/ectodermal cells (Oswald et al., 2004; Woodbury et al., 2000) and to modulate immune responses (Uccelli et al., 2006). Such findings clearly suggest a role for the use of MSCs as a potential therapeutic tool for diseases in which tissue repair is needed and/or inflammation is extensive (Auletta et al., 2012; Wei et al., 2013).

BM and AT have been the most widely utilized source of MSCs due in part to the ease of harvest and the potential application of these cells as an autologous therapy (Hoogduijn and Dor, 2013). While BM aspiration and surgical harvest of adipose tissue (i.e. in case of liposuction, lipoplasty, or lipectomy) have provided robust materials for the study of MSCs, a lack of specific surface antigens has hindered the isolation of pure MSCs. Thus MSC cultures are typically composed of mixed, non-clonal populations of cells (Dominici et al., 2006; Galderisi and Giordano, 2014; McNiece, 2007; Samsonraj et al., 2015). Despite such limitations definitive MSC phenotypes have been discerned through a number of comparative studies (Baksh et al., 2007; Deuse et al., 2011; Hass et al., 2011; Hoogduijn and Dor, 2013). In line with the aforementioned, when MSCs derived from umbilical cord perivascular cells (UCPVCs) are compared with those isolated from the adult BM and AT, the neonatal MSCs display greater rates of proliferation (Baksh et al., 2007). Further, while BM-MSCs display contact-inhibited patterns of growth, UCPVC-MSCs continue to grow via multi-layering (Baksh et al., 2007). With regard to AT-MSCs, a certain range of heterogeneity has been demonstrated with cells isolated from different regions of the body, and evidence that e.g. subcutaneous-derived AT-MSCs grow slightly faster than omental-derived AT-MSCs provided (Van Harmelen et al., 2004). It is also interesting to note that MSCs from different sources are differentially influenced by the donor's age. As such, BM- and AT-MSCs decrease in therapeutic potential with age, whereas neonatal MSCs display reduced signs of senescence following multiple passages in vitro (Deuse et al., 2011). The optimal source of MSCs for cell-based therapies remains to be determined (Uccelli et al., 2008).

With regard to the pathobiology of progressive MS, in vitro findings have demonstrated that both mouse and human MSCs are capable of influencing the maturation and activity of innate immune cells/the associated response, whereas experimental settings evaluating the immunogenicity of MSCs have contribute to spread the idea that MSCs can be considered intrinsically immune privileged, thus overcoming the necessity for graft-host matching and considerably boosting the idea for allogenic MSCs transplantation in patients (Di Nicola et al., 2002; Le Blanc et al., 2003a; Tse et al., 2003). Adopting co-cultures involving cell subtypes of both innate or adaptive immunity, several studies reported that allogenic MSCs are capable of skewing the immune response toward an anti-inflammatory/tolerant phenotype through mechanisms that appear to be independent from the major histocompatibility complex (MHC). Despite human MSCs express intermediate levels of human leukocyte antigen (HLA) MHC class I, and can be induced to express MHC class II antigen by interferon γ (IFN- γ) treatment (Le Blanc et al., 2003b, Tse et al., 2003); MSCs do not eliciting a proliferative response from allogeneic lymphocytes, but to rather suppress their proliferation (Di Nicola et al., 2002, Le Blanc et al., 2003b, Tse et al., 2003).

Although it was initially suggested that the lack of co-stimulatory molecules like B7-1, B7-2, CD40, and CD40 ligand in MSCs would underpin the absence of T cell activation, following *in vitro* studies indicated a more complex scenario in which MSCs could actively influence the surrounding inflammatory environment in order to induce tolerance by means of mechanism which might not involve cell contact. In line with this concept, T-cell suppression was also observed in trans-well assays (Di Nicola et al., 2002) and a role for soluble factors (*i.e.*

prostaglandin E2, PGE₂) was suggested following the observation that MSCs were capable of down-regulate IFN-y secretion from NK and Th1 cells and increase IL-4 secretion from Th2 cells, thus promoting a shift from a pro-inflammatory Th1-like phenotype to an anti-inflammatory Th2-like one (Aggarwal and Pittenger, 2005). Similarly, MSCs restrain DC maturation and functional properties through inhibition of TNF- α secretion and promotion of IL-10 secretion (Aggarwal and Pittenger, 2005). In line with this evidence, human MSCs inhibit the maturation of monocytes into macrophages, and cord-blood and CD34⁺ hematopoietic progenitor cells into DCs (Jiang et al., 2005; Li et al., 2008; Nauta et al., 2006a; Ramasamy et al., 2007), as well as impair their antigen-presenting function (Chiesa et al., 2011, Jiang et al., 2005, Ramasamy et al., 2007). Analogously, MSCs hinder the cytotoxic activity of resting NK cells by down-regulating the expression of NKp30 and natural-killer group 2, member D (NKG2D) (Spaggiari et al., 2006), and diminish the respiratory burst of neutrophils, while inducing their spontaneous apoptosis through an IL-6-dependent mechanism (Raffaghello et al., 2008). Ensuing this evidence, the idea that MSCs could influence the inflammatory responses while maintaining a low/ negligible immunogenic phenotype largely took place.

Nonetheless, in striking contrast to this notion murine allograft of MSCs has shown to be immune rejected by MHC class I- and class II-mismatched recipient (Eliopoulos et al., 2005) and be capable of inducing a memory T cell response after injection in vivo in immunocompetent hosts (Nauta et al., 2006b). Furthermore, recent studies have emphasized that whereas human MSCs limit Th1 responses, they concurrently induce Th17 responses. It appears that MSCs reciprocally regulate Th1 and Th17 effector T cell subsets, through a prostaglandin E2 (PGE2)-dependent and myeloid cell- mediated mechanism, which open novel questions regarding the potential pro-inflammatory effect induced by MSCs (Rozenberg et al., 2016). The substantial evidence of the immune modulatory capacity of MSCs has driven to the consideration that MSCs could induce anti-inflammatory responses sufficient to tame any proinflammatory T cell responses that they might concurrently induce (Rozenberg et al., 2016). It has also been suggested that MSCs may be considered immune-evasive rather than -privileged (Ankrum et al., 2014) and that such propriety is balanced between their expression of immunogenic and immunosuppressive factors, which is substantially affected by the nature of local inflammatory environment.

Herein we will focus on a number of pre-clinical studies in which MSC transplantation in rodents with EAE was employed in an effort to determine the mechanisms underlying the therapeutic efficacy of MSCs *in vivo*.

2.1.1. Systemic delivery of MSCs

The intravenous (i.v.) transplantation of syngeneic MSCs has led to beneficial effects in both RR (Marin-Banasco et al., 2014) and chronic EAE mouse models (Kurte et al., 2015). However, the beneficial effect of MSCs appears to be dependent on the time of delivery, especially in chronic EAE, with transplanted MSCs being most effective when administered either before disease onset, at disease onset or at the peak of disease (Kurte et al., 2015). The therapeutic effect of MSCs injected i.v. early in the course of disease appears to be related to their preferential accumulation within secondary lymphoid organs, rather than the CNS.

Since the activation of the adaptive immune system dominates the pathophysiology of EAE in its early phases, it is reasonable assume that MSCs may effectively induce an *in vivo* state of T cell unresponsiveness within the peripheral secondary lymphoid organs (Zappia et al., 2005). Specific immune actions occur - and as such may be interfered with - at the level of secondary lymphoid organs. In line with such findings evidence exists that i.v. injected MSCs suppress Th17 cells and increase the proportion of CD4⁺ CD25⁺ Foxp3⁺ regulatory T (Treg) cells in EAE (Luz-Crawford et al., 2013). While the effect of mouse MSCs on Th17 cells is now firmly established, some authors have come to suggest that this may in fact be true for other lymphocyte subtypes (*i.e.* Th1) (Glenn et al., 2015).

ARTICLE IN PRESS

G. Volpe et al. / Journal of Neuroimmunology xxx (2016) xxx-xxx

In the wake of the close dependence of B cell functions from T cell activation, it has also been proposed an influence of MSCs on B cell activation. To support this hypothesis, MSCs infusion in mice with proteolipid protein (PLP)-induced EAE lead to significant reduction of blood anti PLP139-151 antibodies, thereby suggesting that MSCs could block the pathogenic T and B cell response against PLP139-151. To further corroborate this data, MSCs have shown to alter the capacity of encephalitogenic lymph nodes cells (LNCs) to transfer full-blown EAE to healthy recipient mice. The transfer of encephalitogenic LNCs MSCs-treated has indeed demonstrated to produce a lower amount of PLP- specific IgG of all subclasses in transferred mice compared to healthy control (Gerdoni et al., 2007).

The i.v. delivery of MSCs also leads to beneficial effects within the CNS. These may be related to the antioxidant and neuroprotective activities exerted by MSCs (Lanza et al., 2009), as i.v. delivered MSCs also promote the regeneration of axons in the spinal cord of mice with myelin oligodendrocyte glycoprotein (MOG)-induced EAE (Mitra et al., 2015). As such it is tempting to speculate that part of these effects may be due to the release of neurotrophic growth factors by MSCs and/or to a bystander promotion of endogenous reparative responses (Constantin et al., 2009).

While *in vitro* studies have supported the idea that MSCs could transdifferentiate in cells of ectodermal lineage (Woodbury et al., 2000), the i.v. injection of MSCs in acute and chronic EAE mice has provided no evidence of transplanted MSCs expressing marker of neuroectodermal lineage within the CNS (Gerdoni et al., 2007, Zappia et al., 2005). Transplanted undifferentiated MSCs were found within the parenchyma (Gerdoni et al., 2007) and in the subarachnoid space of the spinal cord (Zappia et al., 2005), in close relationship with inflammatory infiltrates as early as one month upon injection, thus demonstrating a limited potential for direct cell replacement in the contest of a CNS exposed to chronic inflammation.

Pre-clinical studies have also investigated the intraperitoneal (i.p.) delivery of syngeneic MSCs in mouse models of EAE. When compared to i.v. delivered cells, the i.p. delivery of MSCs resulted in an increased number of splenic Treg cells and interleukin (IL)-4 levels, with a concordant decrease in the levels of both interferon (IFN)- γ and overall inflammatory cell infiltration in the brain (Yousefi et al., 2013). Other studies have confirmed the efficacy of i.p. delivered MSCs, showing that MSC-treated EAE mice display a significant reduction of CD4⁺ T cell infiltration in the spinal cord, and a reduction in plasma levels of both IL-17 and tumor necrosis factor (TNF)- α (Rafei et al., 2009b).

Human MSCs have also been shown capable of ameliorating rodent EAE models, after either i.v. or i.p. cell delivery (Bai et al., 2009; Gordon et al., 2010; Guo et al., 2013). The i.v. injection of human MSCs induces functional recovery in both relapsing and chronic EAE in mice, ultimately reducing the extent of damage and increasing the number of endogenous oligodendrocyte lineage cells (Bai et al., 2009). Upon i.v. delivery, human MSCs infiltrate the CNS and preferentially accumulate at sites of myelin damage (Gordon et al., 2010). Host immune responses are also influenced by the i.v. delivery of human MSCs, with a reduction of T cell proliferation (Donders et al., 2015), IFN-y producing Th1-like and IL-17 producing Th17-like inflammatory cells (Bai et al., 2009), and up-regulation of CD1d^{high}CD5⁺ regulatory B cells (Guo et al., 2013). Interestingly, human MSCs are also intrinsically capable of fusing with endogenous Purkinje cells in vitro. This event increases in frequency upon the presence of TNF- α and/or IFN- γ (Kemp et al., 2011), and also occurs consistently in vivo in the EAE brain following the i.v. delivery of human MSCs, as suggested by the occurrence of heterokaryons, multi-nucleated cells containing genetic material from both the cellular graft and the host.

The i.p. delivery of human MSCs lead to relatively little CNS infiltration, yet the graft was still able to exert significant ameliorative and anti-inflammatory effects in EAE (Bravo et al., 2016; Gordon et al., 2008; Peron et al., 2012). Of note, some of these human MSC-dependent effects may be related to specific immune modulatory properties, which are lacking in rodent MSCs. For example, while tryptophan (trp) catabolism by indolamine-2,3-dioxygenase 1 (IDO1) activity contributes to the immunosuppressive phenotype of human MSCs, this does not seem to be the case for murine MSCs (Lanz et al., 2010). The systemic injection of both IDO1-proficient and phenotypically identical IDO1-deficient mouse MSCs both resulted in the amelioration of EAE (Lanz et al., 2010); and mouse MSCs were capable of inducing the expression of IDO1 in target CD11c⁺ dendritic cells (DCs) (Matysiak et al., 2008). Similarly, a specific immune modulatory mechanism stimulated by i.v. injected human adipose tissue-derived MSCs may be related to their secretion of the human leukocyte antigen (HLA)-G, a non-classical HLA class I molecule, which has inhibitory effects in all immune cells (Shalaby et al., 2016). Human MSCs delivered i.p. have also shown direct effects on neurons via the recovery of the expression of glycogen synthase kinase (GSK)-3 β (Tafreshi et al., 2014).

When envisioning the clinical translation of such cells, several additional factors must be considered. These include: (i) the source from which MSCs are derived (ii) their differentiation profile/potential and (iii) the vitality of the transplanted graft. Whether mouse MSCs are derived from healthy mice or from mice with EAE may also play an important role; yet human evidence exists to suggest that this may not be limiting (Mallam et al., 2010). The systemic injection of MSCs from EAE mice proved to be indistinguishable from effects induced by MSCs obtained from healthy syngeneic donors (Kassis et al., 2013). The i.p. delivery of adipose tissue-derived MSCs from EAE mice displayed no therapeutic effects (vs control MSCs) with regard to the progression of disease (Zhang et al., 2014). In vitro BM-derived MSCs from EAE mice, display higher rates of proliferation/apoptosis when compared to MSCs derived from healthy mice (Zacharaki et al., 2013). These findings are of particular interest as they highlight the role of the inflammatory microenvironments and suggest that deriving MSCs from active MS patients for autologous cell transplants might not be ideal. The importance of the inflammatory environment has also been shown in rodent experiments with allogeneic MSC transplants. Although allogeneic (Balb/c) MSC transplantation in C57Bl/6 MOG-induced EAE mice led to reduction of EAE scores (vs syngeneic MSC transplants), pre-treatment of allogeneic MSCs with IFN- γ increased the expression levels of major histocompatibility complex (MHC)-I and -II and completely inhibited their therapeutic effects (Rafei et al., 2009a).

The tissue from which MSCs are derived (e.g. bone marrow vs adipose tissue vs umbilical cord) may also have an effect in terms of migratory abilities and/or impact on the clinical and pathological disease outcomes of the stem cell graft (Payne et al., 2013). The MSC phenotype and pre-differentiation status is also important when considering its translational implications. While MSC exposed to neurogenic induction media (pre-neuralised) (Harris et al., 2012) may possess an enhanced potential for CNS integration and regeneration, evidence exists that efficacy in EAE is likely to be strictly dependent on the undifferentiated profile of MSCs that is coupled to secretion of immune modulatory factors (i.e. prostaglandin E2) (Matysiak et al., 2011). Finally, it still remains unclear as to whether the sustained vitality of the graft in vivo is indeed indispensable for the observed therapeutic post-MSC transplantation in animal models. As for murine MSCs, the source from which human MSCs are derived might play an important role in terms of the therapeutic potential of the graft. Mice with chronic EAE that were treated before disease onset with adipose tissue-derived human MSCs derived from young (<35 years) vs old (>60 years) donors displayed profoundly different outcomes. Human MSCs from old donors failed to ameliorate the neurodegeneration associated with chronic EAE, leading to increased CNS inflammation and demyelination in vivo, and increased splenocyte proliferation in co-cultures in vitro (Scruggs et al., 2013). Further work has shown that MSCs derived from human embryonic stem (hES) cells (hES-MSCs) significantly reduce clinical symptoms and prevent demyelination in EAE to significantly greater levels than that of human BM-derived MSCs. Such differences may also be related to the intrinsically greater ability of hES-MSCs to extravasate and enter the inflamed CNS

tissue (Wang et al., 2014). Such assets, when coupled to the fact that hES-MSCs may be expanded virtually indefinitely prior to transplantation, suggest that they may be ideally suited for large-scale clinical translation.

2.1.2. Local delivery of MSCs

Mouse MSCs have also shown preclinical efficacy in EAE models when delivered locally to the CNS, with the clinical course of chronic EAE having been ameliorated in treated animals following the intracerebroventricular (i.c.v.) delivery of MSCs (Kassis et al., 2008). The i.c.v. administration of MSCs induced a strong reduction in CNS inflammation in term of total number, size and cellularity of the lymphocytic infiltrates and presented a peculiar neuroprotective effect evidenced by a significant decrease in axonal loss (Kassis et al., 2008). Of note, similar axonal protection was not observed following i.v. MSC delivery (Kassis et al., 2008).

The i.c.v. transplantation of BM-derived MSCs has shown variable degrees of efficacy and adverse effects when performed in EAE mice displaying different disease severity. While effective in mild EAE phenotypes, i.c.v. delivery did not ameliorate the clinical deficits in mice with severe EAE scores (Grigoriadis et al., 2011). Moreover, local transplantation in severe EAE mice was associated with potentially adverse effects, including the formation of cellular masses, which were characterized by focal inflammation, demyelination, axonal loss and increased collagenfibronectin deposition (Grigoriadis et al., 2011). Interestingly these masses were not observed post-MSC transplantation in mild EAEs, nor were they associated with the transplantation of NSCs (Grigoriadis et al., 2011). These findings are of considerable relevance when one considers clinical trials in MS as they have come to suggest that the i.c.v./intrathecal transplantation of MSCs may exhibit, under conditions of severe inflammation like that presented in mice with higher EAE score, a local pathology whose consequences remain to be elucidated (Grigoriadis et al., 2011).

In addition to this, the intravenous systemic injection of MSCs has shown comparable clinical and pathological amelioration to intratechal delivery in a study which compared both ways of cells administration (Morando et al., 2012), thus supporting the adoption of less invasive therapeutic approaches.

Human MSCs have also been shown to be efficacious in EAE, after i.c.v. transplantation. Human placental MSCs (PL-MSCs) transplanted i.c.v. in EAE mice decrease the disease severity and increase the animals' survival (Fisher-Shoval et al., 2012). PL-MSCs express anti-inflammatory mediators in response to pro-inflammatory cytokines (*e.g.* TNF- α , IL1- β) released by activated microglia and astrocyte in the CNS of EAE mice. Further reports have shown that following exposure to conditioned media from LPS-activated astrocytes, PL-MSCs secrete TNF- α stimulated gene/protein 6 (TSG-6). Such results again suggest that human MSCs may influence activated microglia, astrocytes and/or inflammatory cells in EAE models (Fisher-Shoval et al., 2012; Getting et al., 2002; Milner et al., 2006).

Being that MSCs have an immune modulatory effect predominantly associated with the secretion of several bioactive molecules, one intriguing possibility for MS research/therapy would be the use of MSCconditioned media (CM).

Interestingly, studies with CM from human MSCs have described a reduction in functional deficits and an increase in the number of oligodendrocytes and neurons in mice with chronic EAE (Bai et al., 2012). A recent study has described that a single i.v. injection of CM collected from MSCs derived from the stem cells of human exfoliated deciduous teeth (SHED) is capable of improving EAE scores, reducing demyelination/axonal injury, and promoting a switch in the microglia/ macrophage phenotype from the M1-like (classically activated, pro-inflammatory) to the M2-like (alternatively activated, anti-inflammatory) state (Shimojima et al., 2016). Of note, treatment of EAE mice with the secreted ectodomain of sialic acid-binding Ig-like lectin-9, a major component of SHED-CM, recapitulated the effects of SHED-CM treatment, thereby demonstrating the possibility of deriving cell-free components that would mitigate some complications typically associated with cell-based therapeutics (Shimojima et al., 2016).

Hepatocyte growth factor (HGF) was identified as a critical factor in CM-MSC-stimulated recovery in EAE (Bai et al., 2012) with the administration of recombinant HGF at the peak of disease having been shown to promote both behavioral and pathological recovery and the functional blocking of cMet and the administration of anti-HGF antibodies having been shown to abolish MSC-CM mediated recovery (Bai et al., 2009; Sheth et al., 2008).

Finally, EAE mice treated with adipose tissue-derived MSC-CM or injected with MSCs themselves displayed a similar amelioration of clinical and pathological features. However, a greater reduction in lymphocytic proliferative responses and brain leukocyte infiltration was observed in CM-treated mice (Yousefi et al., 2016).

2.2. Neural stem/precursor cells (NSCs)

Neural stem/precursor cells (NSCs) are heterogeneous populations of self-renewing, multipotent cells present within both the developing and adult CNS that drive neurogenesis/gliogenesis (Bernstock et al., 2014; Martino and Pluchino, 2006). NSCs reside within specialized microenvironments located at level of the ganglionic eminence(s) within the embryo, and both the subventricular zone (SVZ) of the lateral ventricles and the subgranular zone (SGZ) of the hippocampal dentate gyrus (DG) in the adult. NSCs obtained from either embryos or adults can be cultured/expanded *in vitro* if supplemented with multipotent growth factors (*i.e.* EGF and FGF) as free-floating spherical aggregates (*i.e.* neurospheres) and/or as adherent monolayers (provided the provision of an artificial matrix). Upon growth factor withdrawal, NSCs spontaneously differentiate into specific neuroectodermal lineages, ultimately becoming neurons, astrocytes and oligodendrocytes (Reynolds et al., 1992; Reynolds and Weiss, 1992).

The intrinsic ability of NSCs to differentiate into cells of the oligodendroglial lineage cultivated hope for their adoption as clinically relevant therapies in a number of demyelinating/dysmyelinating disorders. As such an extensive number of pre-clinical studies involving both rodent and non-human primate disease models have been employed to investigate the therapeutic potential of NSC transplantation in acute (Einstein et al., 2003), relapsing (Pluchino et al., 2009b, Pluchino et al., 2005) and chronic EAE (Einstein et al., 2006, Pluchino et al., 2003). It should be noted however that our current understanding of the prevailing mechanisms governing the beneficial effects displayed by transplanted NSCs revolves primarily around a number of graft-to-host interactions as opposed to the replacement of damaged tissue (Ben-Hur, 2008, Cossetti et al., 2012); the aforementioned has come to be known as *therapeutic plasticity* (Cossetti et al., 2012, Pluchino and Martino, 2008).

2.2.1. Systemic delivery of NSCs

The therapeutic value of NSC i.v. grafts in inflammatory neurodegenerative disorders has become readily apparent. Transplanted NSCs are able to home to the lesioned areas of the CNS where they establish atypical perivascular niches whose architecture is reminiscent of their native prototypical germinal niches (Martino and Pluchino, 2006, Pluchino et al., 2009a, Pluchino et al., 2009b, Pluchino et al., 2005). Such microenvironments allow undifferentiated stem cells to survive and in so doing provide neurotropic support, modulate inflammation, and/or migrate into the lesioned parenchyma and participate directly in cellular repair/replacement (Calabrese et al., 2007, Einstein et al., 2003, Pluchino et al., 2005). NSCs biological effects are exerted through a regulated cross talk with other components of the atypical niche, including endothelial cells, blood-born inflammatory cells, activated macrophages and microglia, and/or reactive astrocytes (Bacigaluppi et al., 2009, Cossetti et al., 2012, Cusimano et al., 2012, Pluchino and Cossetti, 2013, Sun et al., 2010). Within the inflamed CNS, bone morphogenetic protein (BMP)-4 and the BMP-4 antagonist Noggin promote the maintenance of an

ARTICLE IN PRESS

undifferentiated phenotype in grafted NSCs (Pluchino et al., 2005). Moreover, the activation of microglia, astrocytes and/or endothelial cells within the injured CNS (Martino and Pluchino, 2006, Muller et al., 2006) produce chemokines such as stromal cell-derived factor (SDF)-1 α /CXCL12, monocyte chemotactic protein (MCP)-1/CCL2, and vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) that collectively function as a homing beacons, not only for inflammatory cells, but also for implanted NSCs (Doetsch et al., 2002, Maslov et al., 2004, Mi et al., 2005, Muller et al., 2006, Pluchino and Cossetti, 2013, Soares and Sotelo, 2004). It should be noted that NSCs express adhesion molecules (e.g. [CD44], integrins $[\alpha 4 \beta 1]$) and chemokine receptors (*e.g.* CCR1, CCR2, CCR5, CXCR3, CXCR4), thereby enabling them to follow concentration gradients of these chemokines and extravasate into the CNS via tethering, rolling and adhering to endothelial cells followed by trans-endothelial migration (Andres et al., 2011, Darsalia et al., 2007, Mueller et al., 2006, Pluchino et al., 2003, Pluchino et al., 2005). Factors such as basic fibroblast growth factor (bFGF) and insulin-like growth factor (IGF)-1 are also produced by activated astrocytes and support NSC proliferation, survival and/or differentiation (Lie et al., 2004, Muller et al., 2006, Soares and Sotelo, 2004). Conversely, hypertrophic glial fibrillary acidic protein (GFAP)-enriched astrocytes of the glial scar produce factors such as slit homologue (SLIT)-2, TNF- α and hyaluronan that repel NSCs and limit the regenerative potential of their progeny (Benedetti et al., 2000, Emsley et al., 2005, Muller et al., 2006, Soares and Sotelo, 2004).

Although glial cell replacement was initially thought to underlie the therapeutic effects exerted by NSC grafts, the remarkable functional recovery observed upon transplantation in different experimental models of CNS injury have shown minimal correlation with the number of grafted cells that ultimately undergo terminal differentiation (Ben-Hur, 2008, Cao et al., 2002, Cusimano et al., 2012). However NSCs can contribute to some cell replacement, mainly by differentiating into astrocytes (Cusimano et al., 2012), or progressing towards oligodendrocyte progenitor cells (Ben-Hur et al., 2003). Despite such potential it is the bystander effects of undifferentiated NSCs (e.g. the provision of trophic support and modulation of the immune response) that ultimately predominate (Martino and Pluchino, 2006). In EAE (murine and non-human primate) models of MS such bystander effects have been shown to modulate mediate myelin repair and axonal rescue (Einstein et al., 2009, Pluchino et al., 2003). These trophic and neuroprotective effects are exerted via the provision of neurotrophins, growth factors, developmental stem cell regulators, and immune modulators (all of which serve to modulate the microenvironment) (Cossetti et al., 2012, Martino and Pluchino, 2006, Pluchino and Cossetti, 2013). Interestingly, NSCs injected i.v. in EAE animal models stimulate the proliferation and differentiation of endogenous oligodendrocyte progenitor cells (OPCs), and consequently upregulate remyelination through the secretion of platelet-derived growth factor (PDGF)- α and bFGF (Einstein et al., 2009, Pluchino et al., 2003). As such NSCs culturing protocols which call for elevated amounts of epidermal growth factor (EGF) and fibroblast growth factor (FGF)-2) may serve to select growth factorresponsive cells that if transplanted into the inflamed CNS are more responsive to environmental signals and therefore release more neurotrophins and growth factors (Martino and Pluchino, 2006).

Transplantation of NSCs facilitates the switch to a more anti-inflammatory lesional environment (Martino et al., 2011, Pluchino and Cossetti, 2013). *In vitro* studies have shown that NSC 1) induce apoptosis of Th1 and Th17, but not Th2 lymphocytes through Fas ligand (FasL), TRAIL and Apo-3 ligand (APO3L) (Pluchino et al., 2005); 2) reduce T cell proliferation through nitric oxide and prostaglandin E (PGE)-2 (Wang et al., 2009), 3) reduce T cell receptor (TCR) dependent activation (Pluchino et al., 2009b); 4) inhibit IL-2 (T cell) and IL-6 (B cell) signaling (Fainstein et al., 2008, Kim et al., 2009); and 5) reduce local populations of monocytes and macrophages through cytotoxic TNF- α secretion (Ricci-Vitiani et al., 2007). Furthermore, NSC-induced increases in activated CD11b⁺ microglia have been shown to lead to IGF-1, VEGF, transforming growth factor (TGF)- β , and brain-derived neurotrophic factor (BDNF) production, yielding better motor function and axonal sprouting; such findings again speak to the dynamic/context dependent nature of inflammation/inflammatory cells (Capone et al., 2007, Daadi et al., 2010, Lalancette-Hebert et al., 2007).

Beyond the CNS systemically delivered NSCs can also be found within secondary lymphoid organs where they serve to modulate inflammation (Einstein et al., 2007, Lee et al., 2008b, Pluchino et al., 2009a, Pluchino et al., 2009b). In lymph nodes, the increased bioavailability of BMP-4, BMP-7, sonic hedgehog (Shh) and Noggin, released by both transplanted NSCs and immune cells, promotes the survival and persistence of grafted NSCs outside the CNS, at the levels of ectopic perivascular germinal niche-like lymph node areas (Pluchino et al., 2009b). Therein, NSCs hinder the activation of myeloid DCs, limiting the expansion of antigen-specific encephalogenic T-cells (Pluchino et al., 2009b; Pluchino et al., 2005). Moreover, the presence of BMP-4 has also shown to contribute in delaying DC maturation (Pluchino et al., 2009b).

In an attempt to translate these immune modulatory proprieties the therapeutic potential of both human somatic (Pluchino et al., 2009a) and human ES-cell-derived NPCs (Aharonowiz et al., 2008, Pluchino et al., 2009a) has been investigated following the transplantation in non-human primates and mice with EAE, respectively. These studies have shown that human-derived cell functions are largely similar to those of animal-derived cells, thereby capable of promoting functional and pathological recovery. Nonetheless, the therapeutic use of these cells is limited by ethical constraints, genetic instability, and potential tumorigenicity (Tsuji et al., 2011, Yoo et al., 2013).

2.2.2. Local delivery of NSCs

Upon i.c.v. injection, NSC typically attenuate brain inflammation, reduce demyelination and axonal pathology and ultimately improve clinical endpoints in models of both acute and chronic EAE (Cossetti et al., 2012). Transplanted NSCs drive the reduction of perivascular infiltrates and CD3⁺ T cells and the increase of CD25⁺ or CD25⁺/CD62L⁺ Treg cells, accompanied by a down-regulation of inflammatory markers intercellular adhesion molecule 1 (ICAM-1), and lymphocyte function-associated antigen 1 (LFA-1) (Einstein et al., 2003, Pluchino et al., 2005). Transplanted NSCs also act via the inhibition of IL-2 and IL-6 signaling in T lymphocytes affecting both their activation and proliferation (Fainstein et al., 2008).

Immune regulation rather than neural differentiation has again been suggested as the putative mechanism by which i.c.v. injection of human NSCs (hNSCs) ameliorate EAE in non-human primates (Aharonowiz et al., 2008, Pluchino et al., 2009a). Non-human primates with EAE transplanted with hNSCs accumulated lower disability and displayed increased survival, as compared with sham-treated controls. In contrast to their mouse NSC counterparts, hNSCs display a limited cytotoxicity towards T cells in vitro. However, in inflammatory environments such as EAE, they exhibit a higher cytotoxic potential against mononuclear phagocytes (MPs) perhaps due to the elevated expression of TNF- α , TNF-like protein (TL) 1A and TRAIL (Ricci-Vitiani et al., 2007). Such effects on MPs support the potential adoption of hNSCs as a treatment for progressive MS, which shows CNS inflammatory infiltrates principally characterized by macrophages and microglia (Mallucci et al., 2015). Despite such promise, hNSCs require greater manipulation in vitro as compared to the rodent NSCs (Zhang et al., 2001). These features when coupled to the presence of human leukocyte antigens on their surface, have significantly limited the clinical translation of somatic hNSCs (Al Nimer et al., 2004, Odeberg et al., 2005).

The ability of NSCs to influence their microenvironment via the secretion of soluble factors has become further evident as NSC-CM has been shown capable of modulating microglial activation, proliferation, and phagocytosis *in vitro* (Mosher et al., 2012). Importantly, intrastriatal injection of NSC-CM induced a similar increase in the absolute number, activation and proliferation of microglia, which was comparable the effects obtained via the stereotaxic injection of NSCs (Mosher et al., 2012).

Transplanted mouse NSCs have demonstrated an ability to reduce the proportion of classically-activated (M1-like) macrophages, while promoting the healing of the injured CNS (Cusimano et al., 2012). In the case of NSC-CM injection then, VEGF was recognized as one of the principal mediators involved in the regulation of microglia, as the knock down of VEGF appeared to attenuate the effects of NSC-CM on microglia (Mosher et al., 2012). Of note NSC-CM has also shown to have striking effects on delayed neurodegeneration when injected i.v. (Doeppner et al., 2016). These results were again attributed to the high concentrations of VEGF within the CM, which reduces inflammation, whilst concurrently promoting angiogenesis (Doeppner et al., 2016).

2.3. Induced pluripotent stem cells (iPSC)

In 2006 Shinya Yamanaka and colleagues published a seminal study in which they described how mouse embryonic and adult fibroblasts were able to acquire properties similar to ES cells if transduced with four transcription factors (i.e. Oct3/4, Sox2, Klf4, and c-Myc) (Takahashi and Yamanaka, 2006). This first generation of iPSCs were similar to ES cells in morphology, proliferation and teratoma formation yet these iPSCs possessed a unique global gene expression pattern when compared to endogenous ES cells and as such failed to produce adult chimeric mice (Takahashi and Yamanaka, 2006). In 2007, germline transmission was achieved with mouse iPSCs (Okita et al., 2007), and soon afterwards iPS cells were being efficiently generated from human fibroblasts (Takahashi et al., 2007). Today, iPSC technology holds tremendous promise/potential for regenerative medicine and as such research groups have dedicated considerable time and effort to the efficient development of both mouse and human NSCs via the differentiation of somatic-derived iPSCs with the overarching aim of treating intractable neurological illness such as chronic/progressive MS.

In chronic EAE, mouse iPSC-derived NSCs (iPSC-NSCs) transplanted i.c.v. at disease onset induce stable amelioration of the disease. In this case, the neuroprotective effects are not dependent upon the differentiation of transplanted cells in functional oligodendrocytes, but instead are mainly mediated by the secretion of leukemia inhibiting factor (LIF) (Laterza et al., 2013). In turn, LIF secretion promotes endogenous OPC survival and functionality, and this is necessary to limit the BBB leakage and autoreactive lymphocytes extravasation, thereby reducing the inflammatory process (Laterza et al., 2013). When iPSC-NSCs are transplanted into the inflamed CNS, the majority of the environmental cues are pro-inflammatory signals that tend to repress the differentiation process while promoting bystander (*paracrine*) actions. In a similar study, Zhang and colleagues showed that murine iPSC-NSCs when transplanted i.c.v. in chronic EAE mice presenting severe hind limb weakness (usually 18 days post immunization) result in reduction T cell infiltration and amelioration white matter damage (Zhang et al., 2016). These effects were coupled by an improvement of EAE score, which was however less pronounced than that observed in mice being i.c.v. injected with syngeneic NSCs.

A schematic comparison of the main features and properties of MSC, NSC and iPSC therapeutics for EAE/MS is provided in Table 1.

3. Stem cell clinical trials in multiple sclerosis (MS)

The advent of DMTs has transformed treatment paradigms for patients in the early stages of MS. However, once inflammation becomes compartmentalized within the CNS, DMTs are no longer clinically effective. Accordingly, DMTs have questionable effects on the progressive accumulation of disabilities witnessed throughout the disease course in chronic/progressive MS patients (Hauser et al., 2013). While several novel DMTs have received regulatory approval for RRMS, they have had negligible effects on the persistent inflammation and the subsequent CNS degeneration that are the hallmarks of the progressive forms of the disease (Fox and Rhoades, 2012). Furthermore, early attempts to approach progressive MS via the application of putative neuroprotective therapies have failed (Kapoor et al., 2010). Given the clinical burden of progressive MS and the lack of treatment options, there is an urgent need for clinical trials utilizing novel therapeutics capable of (i) reducing inflammation once it has been compartmentalized within the CNS, (ii) providing trophic support to the brain, and (iii) increasing the plasticity and intrinsic repair capabilities of the CNS.

The transplantation of nHSCs fulfills all of these criteria and therefore represent both a promising and novel therapeutic approach for progressive MS patients. Of note, recent clinical investigations that have employed stem cell based products in regenerative neurology have been centered on addressing a wide spectrum of pathological conditions (*e.g.* Parkinson's disease, amyotrophic lateral sclerosis (ALS), spinal cord injury (SCI), stroke, MS) and as such have utilized a variety of stem cell types (Trounson and McDonald, 2015).

3.1. Current MS clinical trials - Search stratagem and criteria for inclusion

Our search strategy sought to identify all ongoing clinical trials utilizing stem cells in MS globally. As such, we have outlined a general search strategy along with individual key words and operators for each database utilized. Our analysis includes the results from searches of clincaltrials.gov (queried on 15/06/16) and the WHO's International Clinical Trials Registry Platform (ICTRP) (queried on 16/6/16). Search

Table 1

Summary of main features and properties of MSC, NSC and iPSC therapeutics for EAE/MS.

Features and properties	MSCs	NSCs	iPSC-NSC derivatives
Source(s)	Bone marrow, adipose tissue, dental pulp, birth associated tissues	Fetal brain and	Somatic tissues (skin, hair follicles,
	(e.g. decidua, umbilical cord)	spinal cord	peripheral blood monocytes)
Ethical concerns	None	Some	None
Immunogenicity	±	+	±
Graft options	Autologous and Allogeneic	Allogeneic	Autologous and Allogeneic
Immune suppression	N/Y	Y	N/Y
Stability in vitro (over passaging)	Limited	Good	Remarkable
Safety in vivo (systemic injection)	Good	Some	Not tested
Safety in vivo (CNS graft)	Some	Good	Good
Differentiation into neural cells in vitro	Some	Good	Good
Differentiation into neural cells in vivo	Scarce	Some	Not tested
(systemic injection)			
Differentiation into neural cells in vivo (CNS graft)	None	Some	Good
Immune modulation (adaptive)	Good	Good	Not tested
Immune modulation (innate)	Some	Some	Not tested

terms employed on clinicaltrails.gov were as follows: ("mesenchymal stem cell" OR "neural stem cell" OR "induced pluripotent stem cell" OR "induced neuronal stem cell") AND ("multiple sclerosis") yielding 19 trials. Advanced search terms employed on ICTRP were "Condition = sclerosis" "Intervention = stem", yielding 136 trials of which 16 involving progressive MS and non-hematopoietic cells sources.

3.1.1. Clinical trials with MSCs

MSCs have been at the forefront of reparative/regenerative medicine for several diseases, including MS (Mallucci et al., 2015). The immune modulatory, tissue protective and repair-promoting properties of MSCs demonstrated both *in vitro* and in relevant preclinical animal models make them an attractive potential therapy for MS and other conditions characterized by inflammation and/or tissue injury (Cohen, 2013).

Accordingly, in 2009 an international panel comprised of clinicians with expertise in the treatment of MS and basic scientists with knowhow in stem cells/immunology formed a consortium entitled, the "International MSCT Study Group"; the aims were to derive a consensus on the utilization of MSCs for the treatment of MS, along with protocols for the culture of the cells and the treatment of patients. The consensus recognized that current evidence did support the i.v. administration of autologous MSCs as inhibitors of the autoimmune response in patients who continued to show inflammatory activity despite attempts to treat with immune modulatory agents (Freedman et al., 2010). Early clinical trials in MS that employed MSCs demonstrated that such procedures were not only clinically feasible and relatively safe but also emphasized an immediate induction of immune modulatory effects in patients (Cohen et al., 2010, Dulamea, 2015, Freedman et al., 2010, Yamout et al., 2010). Despite this it is prudent to acknowledge that the vast majority of these trials consisted of what were essentially unblinded clinical pilots and included very small cohorts of patients and should be considered anecdotal reports. As such results garnered regarding MSC therapy in MS should be carefully weighed.

Karussis et al. conducted a study in which 15 patients with MS (mean Expanded Disability Status Scale [EDSS] score, 6.7) and 19 with ALS (mean Amyotrophic Lateral Sclerosis Functional Rating Scale [ALSFRS] score, 20.8 [8.0]) were enrolled (Karussis et al., 2010). The mean ALSFRS score was reported as stable during the first 6 months of observation, whereas the mean EDSS score appeared to have slightly improved (Karussis et al., 2010). In line with preclinical animal studies, *ex vivo* immunological analyses revealed an increase in the proportion of CD4⁺ CD25⁺ Treg cells, a decrease in the proliferative responses of lymphocytes, and the expression of CD40⁺, CD83⁺, CD86⁺, and HLA-DR on myeloid DCs as early as 24 h after MSC transplantation (Karussis et al., 2010). No major adverse effects were reported during follow-up, thereby demonstrating that the transplantation of MSCs in both MS and ALS patients was feasible and relatively safe.

A recent randomized, double blind, placebo-controlled, crossover phase II study went on to investigate the safety/efficacy of MSCs RRMS patients unresponsive to conventional therapies. Efficacy was evaluated in terms of the cumulative number of gadolinium-enhancing lesions on MRI at 6 months and at the end of the study (*i.e.* 1 year) (Llufriu et al., 2014). Patients were randomized to receive IV $1-2 \times 10^6$ bone-marrow-derived-MSCs/kg body weight or placebo. After 6 months, the treatment was reversed and patients were followed for another 6 months. No serious adverse events were reported after treatment (Llufriu et al., 2014). At both 6 months and 1 year patients treated with MSCs trended toward lower mean cumulative numbers with regard to defined clinical endpoints (*e.g.* gadolinium-enhancing lesions), yet statistical significance was not achieved (Llufriu et al., 2014).

Further studies have examined the therapeutic utility of MSCs within cohorts of patients who suffer from progressive forms of MS. Connick and colleagues isolated, expanded, characterized, and administered MSCs in 10 patients with secondary progressive MS that involved the visual pathways (EDSS of 5.5–6.5) (Connick et al., 2012). The single autologous i.v. mean dose of MSC was ~ 1.6×10^6 cells/kg body weight (Connick et al., 2012). The autologous MSCs transplants were shown to induce an improvement in visual endpoints (*i.e.* visual evoked response latency). The neuroprotective effects of the MSCs again seemed to be independent of directed differentiation and/or cell replacement, but rather relied primarily on mechanisms related to immune modulation (Connick et al., 2012).

A second study looked at patients with progressive MS (EDSS 4.0– 6.50) who were unresponsive to conventional treatments (Bonab et al., 2012). 25 patients were ultimately recruited and followed for 1 year after receiving a single intrathecal injection of *ex vivo* expanded MSCs (mean dose of ~ 2.95×10^7 cells). Again, no major adverse effects were reported post-infusion (Bonab et al., 2012). The clinical course of the disease, as measured via EDSS improved in 4/25 patients, deteriorated in 6/25 patients and remained consistent in 12/25 patients, whilst MRI evaluation revealed that 15/25 patients remained stable whereas 6/25 patients displayed new T2 and/or gadolinium enhanced lesions (Bonab et al., 2012). While promising, the authors themselves went on to acknowledge the need for an expansion of the study, booster injections and longer time of clinical follow-up (Bonab et al., 2012).

A recent open-label, phase I clinical trial designed to evaluate the safety, tolerability and preliminary efficacy of the intrathecal administration of autologous MSCs-derived NSCs has confirmed that such a treatment is safe with no major adverse outcomes having been reported (Harris et al., 2015). Critically, these MSCs-derived NSCs, have been shown to display a reduction in the expression of mesodermal markers and reduced capacity for adipogenic or osteogenic differentiation thereby retaining many of clinically relevant features of both MSCs and NSCs (Harris et al., 2012). In those patients that remain these cells are scheduled to be delivered in 3 doses (up to 10 million cells per injection), spaced 3 months apart after the pre-injection quality testing of the autologous MSC-NSCs that have been expanded from bone marrow (Harris et al., 2015, Harris et al., 2012). Secondary outcomes have been designed to observe trends in the clinically efficacy via neurological exams, MRIs, evoked potentials, and urodynamics testing. Result are pending (Harris et al., 2015).

A recent systematic review and meta-analysis of the clinical trials that made used i.v. delivery of MSCs in adult populations or mixed adult/pediatric populations included 36 studies with a total of >1000 participants with a numerous clinical conditions (e.g. ischemic stroke, Crohn's disease, cardiomyopathy, myocardial infarction, graft versus host disease [GVHD], and healthy volunteers) did not detect an association between acute infusion toxicity, organ system complications, infection, death or malignancy, yet did detect a significant association between MSCs and transient fever (Lalu et al., 2012). As such, while important advances have made with regard to the use of MSCs in MS, substantial challenges remain and include the nature, identity, function, mode of isolation and/or experimental handling of MSCs (Bianco et al., 2013). Allogeneic MSCs are both well tolerated and clinically effective in treating GVHD (Le Blanc et al., 2008) and autologous MSCs from MS individuals share almost identical functional properties in terms of their proliferation, phenotype/differentiation in vivo and immunosuppressive ability with those isolated from healthy individuals (Mallam et al., 2010, Mazzanti et al., 2008).

Further and structured study work will be required to identify the optimal dose(s), route(s) of delivery and/or duration of any observed therapeutic effects induced by the application of MSC-based therapies in MS (Cohen, 2013) (Table 2).

3.1.2. Clinical trials with NSCs

NSCs have been shown to exert remarkable trophic effects on endogenous brain cells and a litany of modulatory actions on both innate and adaptive immune responses in mouse (Pluchino et al., 2005) and non-human primates models of MS (Martino et al., 2011, Pluchino and

Table 2 Clinical trials with nHSCs in MS.

Sponsor/place	Form of MS	Trial phase	Patients (no)	Age (years)	Follow up (months)	Cell type	Cell no./patients (cells/kg)	Route	Immunosuppression	Disease duration (years)	Status	Trial number
American CryoStem Corporation (Cayman Islands)	Unspecified MS	Ι	100	18-65	60	Autologous adipose derived MSCs	-	Multiple intravenous infusion	No	>5	Recruiting	NCT02326935
Tisch Multiple Sclerosis Research Center of New York (US)	SPMS, PPMS	Ι	20	18–70	30	Neural Progenitor- derived MSCs	$2-10 \times 10^{6}$	Multiple intratecal infusion	No	-	Active, not recruiting	NCT01933802
The Cleveland Clinic (US)	RRMS, SPMS, PPMS	Ι	24	18–55	6	Bone-marrow- derived mesenchimal stem cells (BM-MSCs)	2×10^6	Single intravenous infusion	No	-	Completed	NCT00813969
Royan Institute (Iran)	RRMS	I/II	22	18–55	12	BM-MSCs	-	Single intravenous infusion	No	2–10	Completed	NCT01377870
University of Cambridge, Medical Research Council (UK)	Unspecified MS	I/II	10	18–65	12	BM-MSCs	2×10^{6}	Single intravenous infusion	No	-	Completed (Connick et al., 2012)	NCT00395200
Karolinska Institutet (Sweden)	RRMS, SPMS, PPMS	I/II	15	18–50	4	BM-MSCs	-	Single intravenous infusion	No	2–10	Recruiting	NCT01730547
Antonio Uccelli (Italy)	RRMS, SPMS, PPMS	I/II	20	18–50	4	BM-MSCs	$1-2 \times 10^{6}$	Single intravenous infusion	No	2-10	-	NCT01854957
University of Jordan (Jordan)	Unspecified MS	I/II	13	18–65	18	Primed BM-MSCs	-	intratecal infusion	No	-	Completed	NCT01895439
Shenzhen Beike Bio-Technology Co., Ltd. (China)	Progressive MS and NMO	I/II	20	18–60	12	Umbilical-cord- derived MSCs	-	Presumed intravenous	No	>2	-	NCT01364246
University Hospital, Toulouse (France)	RRMS, SPMS, PPMS	I/II	12	18–50	12	BM-MSCs	$1-2 \times 10^{6}$	Multiple intravenous infusion	No	2-10	Recruiting	NCT02403947
Fundación Pública Andaluza Progreso y Salud (Spain)	SPMS	I/II	30	>18	12	Autologous adipose derived MSCs	$1-4 \times 10^{6}$	Single intravenous infusion	No	-	Completed	NCT01056471
Germans Trias i Pujol Hospital (Spain)	RRMS, SPMS, PPMS	I/II	8	18–50	12	BM-MSCs	-	Single intravenous infusion	No	2-10	Active, not recruiting	NCT02035514
Translational Biosciences (Panama)	Unspecified MS	I/II	20	18–55	12	Umbilical-cord- derived MSCs	-	Multiple intravenous infusion	No	-	Completed	NCT02034188
Imperial College London (UK)	RRMS, SPMS, PPMS	I/II	19	18–50	36	BM-MSCs	$1-2 \times 10^{6}$	Single intravenous infusion	No	-	Completed	NCT01606215
Fundación Pública Andaluza Progreso y Salud (Spain)	RRMS, SPMS	I/II	30	18–50	12	BM-MSCs	$1-2 \times 10^{6}$	Multiple intravenous infusion	No	-	Recruiting	NCT01745783
Novo Cellular Medicine Institute LLP (Trinidad and Tobago)	RRMS	I/II	69	18–60	12	Umbilical-cord- derived MSCs	Total of ~ 100×10^{6} (intratecal) and 50×10^{6} (intravenous)	intravenous and intratecal infusion	No	>5	Recruiting	NCT02587715
Hadassah Medical Organization (Israel)	Unspecified MS	I/II	20	35–65	12	BM-MSCs	Total of ~ 60×10^{6} (intratecal) and 20×10^{6}	intravenous and intratecal	No	>5	Completed (Karussis et al., 2010)	NCT00781872

Þ ת ດ 111

Ζ D **()** Ś

(continued on next page)

Please cite this article as: Volpe, G., et al., Modulation of host immune responses following non-hematopoietic stem cell transplantation: Translational implications in progressi, J. Neuroimmunol. (2016), http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jneuroim.2016.12.005

Table 2 (continued)

Sponsor/place	Form of MS	Trial phase	Patients (no)	Age (years)	Follow up (months)	Cell type	Cell no./patients (cells/kg)	Route	Immunosuppression	Disease duration (years)	Status	Trial number
Banc de Sang i Teixits (Spain)	RRMS, SPMS	I/II	8	18-60	36	BM-MSCs	(intravenous) -	infusion Single intravenous infusion	No	-	Active, not recruiting	NCT02495766
Albert Saiz (Spain)	RRMS, SPMS, PPMS	II	9	18–50	12	BM-MSCs	$1-2 \times 10^6$	Multiple intravenous infusion	No	2–10	Completed (Llufriu et al., 2014)	NCT01228266
Ottawa Hospital Research Institute (Canada)	RRMS, SPMS, PPMS	II	40	18–50	12	BM-MSCs	$1-2 \times 10^6$	Multiple intravenous infusion	No	2–10	Recruiting	NCT02239393
Dimitrios Karussis (Israel)	Active and Progressive MS	II	36	25-65	12	BM-MSCs	-	intravenous and intratecal infusion	No	>3	Recruiting	NCT02166021
Danish Multiple Sclerosis Society (Denmark)	RRMS, SPMS	II	25	18–50	12	MSCs	-	intravenous infusion	No	2–10	On-going	EUCTR2012-000518-13-DK
SALK - Gemeinnützige Salzburger Landeskliniken Betriebsges. m.b.H. (Austria)	RRMS, SPMS, PPMS	II	5	18–50	12	MSCs	2×10^{6}	intravenous infusion	No	2–10	On-going	EUCTR2015-000137-78-AT
Australian Custom Pharmaceuticals Pty Ltd., Adult Stem Cell Foundation (Australia)	Unspecified MS	I/II	45	18–70	12	Adipose Derived Stem Cells (stromal vascular fraction, SVF)	10 ⁶	intravenous infusion	No	-	Not yet recruiting	ACTRN12615000687594
Military Institute of Medicine, Central Clinical Hospital of the Ministry of National Defence in Warsaw (Poland)	RRMS, SPMS	I/II	20	27–58	18	Adipose Derived Stem Cells (stromal vascular fraction, SVF)	Total of 36×10^6	Multiple intratecal infusion	No	9,5 (RRMS),15,6 (SPMS)	Completed (Stepien et al., 2016)	-
Healeon Medical Inc. (US)	Unspecified MS	I/II	500	18-85	60	Adipose Derived Stem Cells (stromal vascular fraction, SVF)	-	Intravenous infusion	No	>6 months	Recruiting	NCT02939859
Ageless Regenerative Institute (US)	Unspecified MS	I/II	50	18–80	6	Adipose Derived Stem Cells (stromal vascular fraction, SVF)	-	intravenous infusion	No	>5	Recruiting	NCT01453764

Abbreviations: MSCs: mesenchymal stem cells; NMO: neuromyelitis optica; PP: primary progressive; RR: relapsing remitting; SP, secondary progressive.

G. Volpe et al. / Journal of Neuroimmunology xxx (2016) xxx-xxx R C Z RE ິ (n)

Table 3 Clinical trials with nHSCs in other neurological diseases.

Sponsor/place	Disease	Trial phase	Patients (no)	Age (years)	Follow up (months)	Cell type	Cell no./patients (cells/kg)	Route	Immunosuppression	Disease duration (years)	Status	Trial numbe
Italian Ministry of Health (Italy)	ALS	I	10	20-60	24	Autologous BM-derived MSCs	11.4×10^{6} to 120×10^{6}	Multiple intra-medullar injections	No	<3	Completed (Mazzini et al., 2010)	NCT0177764
Mayo Clinic (US)	ALS	Ι	27	>18	24	Autologous MSCs	5 treatment groups (from 10 ⁷ to 10 ⁸)	Single/multiple intratecal infusion	No	-	Active, not recruiting	NCT016092
University of Warmia and Mazury (Poland)	ALS	Ι	30	18–65	18	Autologous BM-derived MSCs	-	Single/multiple intratecal infusion	No	>2	Enrolling by invitation	NCT028814
University of Warmia and Mazury (Poland)	ALS	Ι	30	18–65	18	Allogeneic Wharton's jelly-derived MSCs	-	Single/multiple intratecal infusion	No	>2	Enrolling by invitation	NCT028814
University of Sao Paulo General Hospital (Brazil)	ALS	I/II	28	18–70	10	Autologous BM-derived MSCs	-	Multiple intratecal infusion	No	-	Recruiting	NCT029176
Fundación Pública Andaluza Progreso y Salud (Spain)	ALS	I/II	40	>18	6	Autologous Adipose Derived MSCs	4 treatment groups (from 1×10^{6} to 4×10^{6})	Intravenous infusion	No	6 months to 3 years	Recruiting	NCT022908
Hadassah Medical Organization, Brainstorm Cell Therapeutics (Israel)	ALS	I/II	12	20–75	12	Autologous BM-derived MSCs	Total of $\sim 60 \times 10^{6}$ (intratecal) and 24×10^{6} (intravenous)	Multiple intramuscular or single intratecal infusion	No	<2	Completed (Petrou et al., 2016)	NCT010518
Neuralstem Inc. (US)	ALS	I	18	>18	48	Allogenic fetal spinal cord-derived NSCs (NSI-566RSC)	0.5-1 × 10 ⁶	Multiple intraspinal injections	4 months	1.5	Active, not recruiting (Glass et al., 2012, Riley et al., 2012, Robberecht and Philips, 2013)	NCT013484
Azienda Ospedaliera Santa Maria, Terni (Italy)	ALS	I	18	20-75	36	Allogenic fetal brain-derived NSCs	$7.5 imes 10^5$	Multiple intraspinal injections	6 months	>6 months	Completed (Gelati et al., 2013, Mazzini et al., 2015, Robberecht and Philips 2013)	NCT016400
Shenzhen Hornetcorn Bio-technology Company, LTD (China)	Cerebral Hemorrhage	I	20	40-80	12	umbilical cord derived MSCs	2×10^7 (every week for four times)	Multiple intravenous infusion	-	>3 months	Active, not recruiting	NCT02283
Instituto de Investigación Hospital Universitario La Paz (Spain)	Acute Ischemic Stroke	Ш	20	60-80	24	Allogenic adipose tissue derived MSCs	10 ⁶	Single intravenous infusion	No	<12 h	Completed (Diez-Tejedor et al., 2014)	NCT01678
University Hospital, Grenoble, European Commission H2020 program (France)	Acute Ischemic Stroke	II/III	400	>18	6	Adipose Derived MSCs	10 ⁶	Single intravenous infusion	-	1–4 days	Recruiting	NCT028490
Stemedica Cell Technologies, Inc. (US)	Chronic Ischemic Stroke	I/II	38	>18	12	Allogeneic adult BM derived MSCs	$0.5 - 1.5 imes 10^{6}$	Single intravenous infusion	-	>0.5	Active, not recruiting	NCT01297
Sapporo Medical University (Japan)	Ischemic Stroke	I/II	12	20-75	12	Autologous BM derived MSCs	0.6 to 1.6 \times 10^8	Intravenous infusion	No	~1-3 months	Completed (Honmou et al., 2011)	-
Southern Medical University, Cellonis Biotechnology Co. Ltd. (China)	Ischemic Stroke	I/II	20	18–80	12	Autologous BM derived MSCs or Autologous endothelial progenitor cells (EPCs)	2.5×10^{6}	Multiple intravenous infusion	No	<7 days	Recruiting (Bang et al., 2005, Lee et al., 2010)	NCT01468
Samsung Medical Center, Pharmicell	Ischemic Stroke	III	60	30-75	3	Autologous BM derived MSCs	1×10^6 to 1.2×10^8	Intravenous infusion	No	>3 months	Completed (Kim et al., 2013)	NCT01716

Ζ

G. Volpe et al. / Journal of Neuroimmunology xxx (2016) xxx-xxx

(continued on next page)

Table 3 (continued)

	Disease	Trial phase	Patients (no)	Age (years)	Follow up	Cell type	Cell no./patients (cells/kg)	Route	Immunosuppression	Disease duration	Status	Trial nurr
					(months)					(years)		
Co., Ltd. (Republic												
ReNeuron Limited (UK)	Stable Ischemic Stroke	Ι	12	>60	24	Allogenic fetal-derived, c-myc immortalized NSCs	$\textbf{2-20}\times10^{6}$	Single intra-cerebral	-	0.5–5	Active, not recruiting	NCT011
StemCells, Inc. (US)	Pelizaeus-Merzbacher Disease (PMD)	Ι	4 (4)	0.5–5	12 (48)	(C1X0E303) Allogeneic fetal brain-derived human Central Nervous System (CNS) Stem Cells (HuCNS-SC®)	3×10^8	injection Multiple intra-cerebral injections	9 months	-	Completed (Gupta et al., 2012) (Terminated)	NCT010 (NCT013
StemCells, Inc. (US)	Neuronal Ceroid Lipofuscinosis (NCL)	Ι	6	1.5–12	13	Allogeneic fetal brain-derived HuCNS-SC®	$0.5-1 \times 10^{9}$	Multiple intra-cerebral injections	12 months	-	Completed (Selden et al., 2013)	NCT003
Retina Associates of South Florida, MD Stem Cells (US)	Retinal Disease, Aged Macular Degeneration (AMD), Hereditary Retinal Dystrophy, Optic Nerve Disease, Glaucoma	I/II	300	>18	12	Autologous BM derived MSCs	-	Retro-bulbar, Subtenon, Intravenou, Intravitreal, Intraocular infusion	No	-	Recruiting (Weiss et al., 2015a, Weiss et al., 2015b)	NCT019
StemCells, Inc. (US)	AMD	I/II	15 (8)	>50	12 (48)	Allogeneic fetal brain-derived HuCNS-SC®	0.2-1 × 10 ⁶	Single subretinal injection	3 months	-	Completed	NCT016 (NCT02
StemCells, Inc. (US)	Geographic atrophy in AMD	II	3	50-90	12	Allogeneic fetal brain-derived HuCNS-SC®	0.2-1 × 10 ⁶	Single subretinal injection	3 months	-	Completed	NCT024
Yonsei University (Republic of Korea)	Multiple System Atrophy (MSA)	II	27	<75	12	Autologous BM derived MSCs	4×10^7	Single intra-arterial, multiple intravenous infusion	No	-	Completed (Lee et al., 2008a, Lee et al., 2012, Sunwoo et al., 2014)	NCT009
Stemedica Cell Technologies, Inc.	Alzheimer's Disease (AD)	II	40	55-80	18	Allogeneic MSCs	$1.5 imes 10^6$	Single intravenous infusion	-	<3 months	Recruiting	NCT028
StemCells, Inc. (Canada, Switzerland)	Thoracic Spinal Cord injury	I/II	12	18-60	12 (48)	Allogeneic fetal brain-derived HuCNS-SC®	20×10^6	Multiple intra-medullar injections	9 months	3 months	Completed	NCT013 (NCT01
StemCells, Inc. (Canada, US)	Cervical Spinal Cord injury	II	31	18-60	12	Allogeneic fetal brain-derived HuCNS-SC®	20×10^6	Multiple intra-medullar injections	-	3 months	Completed (Ahuja and Fehlings, 2016)	NCT021
University of Ulsan College of Medicine (Republic of Korea)	Cervical Spinal Cord Injury	III	16	16-65	16	Autologous BM derived MSCs	1.6×10^7 (intra- medullar) and 3.2×10^7 (subdural)	Multiple intra-medullar and single subdural injections	-	>1	Completed (Oh et al., 2016)	-
Cairo University , (Egypt)	Chronic Spinal Cord Injury	I/II	80	10-36	18	Autologous BM derived MSCs	2×10^{6}	Intratecal infusion	-	3 months to 3 years	Completed (El-Kheir et al., 2014)	NCT008
Hospital Sao Rafael	Spinal Cord Injury	Ι	20	18–50	6	Autologous BM derived MSCs	5×10^6 cells/ cm ³ (per lesion volume)	Multiple intra-medullar injections	-	-	Completed (Mendonca et al., 2014)	NCT013

 \mathbf{Z}

Cossetti, 2013, Pluchino et al., 2009a). Several phase I and II trials have been undertaken for the use of NSCs in several intractable CNS diseases (*e.g.* amyotrophic lateral sclerosis, stroke, Pelizaeus-Merzbacher disease, Batten's disease), but clinical trials in MS have yet to be undertaken (Chiu and Rao, 2011).

Serious practical limitations have been associated with the use of somatic NSCs therapies for human diseases. These include the ethics associated with the source from which somatic NSCs are derived (either fetal or embryonic), the immunogenicity of allogeneic grafts and the limited expandability/genotypic stability of NSCs over extensive passaging *in vitro* (Fox et al., 2012, Pearl et al., 2012, Ramos-Zuniga et al., 2012).

Further, recent reports that industry leaders, StemCells Inc. have terminated a "make-or-break" phase 2 clinical trial of its proprietary human CNS stem cell (HuCNS-SC) based therapy in spinal cord injuries is certain to hinder the translational progression of these HuCNS-SC via a diming of potential investment in NSC centered translational research (Smalley, 2016). This critical trial employed Stem Cells Inc.'s HuCNS-SC, which originated from a purified population of human NSC derived from human fetal (16–20 weeks) brain tissue that was sorted using the CD133 marker and expanded in culture; the resultant cell line retained both its capacity to self-renew and differentiate into oligodendrocytes, neurons and astrocytes (Tsukamoto et al., 2013). Despite such preclinical promise, StemCells Inc. is the second high-profile cellular therapy developer to fall short in the highly challenging neural therapies space (*i.e.* with Geron exiting in 2011–2012) in recent years (Frantz, 2012) (Table 3).

3.1.3. Clinical trials with iPSCs

The generation of induced pluripotent stem cells (iPSCs) from adult somatic cells (*e.g.* fibroblasts) has heralded the possibility of autologous transplants that would serve to circumvent histocompatibility barriers and the ethics associated with the source of the tissue. While iPSC technology displays tremendous promise with regard to regenerative medicine, the field of cellular reprogramming is one that is in its relative infancy. As such, the de-differentiation of somatic cells into pluripotent cells comes with an intrinsic set of limitations. These include major difficulties in obtaining differentiation into specific lineages and the required extensive *in vitro* passaging (Fong et al., 2010). Further one cannot exclude the possibility of remaining neoplastic pluripotent cells within the final medical product (Liang and Zhang, 2013).

The first trial to employ an individualized iPSC-based therapy (*i.e.* in age related macular degeneration [AMD]) was suspended due the identification of three single-nucleotide variations and three copy-number variants that were present in a second patients iPSCs which were not detectable in the patient's original fibroblasts (Garber, 2015). As of yet no trials utilizing iPSCs and/or iPSC derivatives have been attempted in MS.

4. Future directions of stem based clinical therapies

Advances in the direct conversion (*i.e.* transdifferentiation) of somatic cells into multipotent/stably expandable induced NSCs (iNSCs) is a massive step forward in the translational march needed to overcome histocompatibility barriers and avoid extensive *in vitro* manipulation of putative cell based therapies (Thier et al., 2012). iNSCs obtained from skin fibroblasts are stably expandable, tissue specific, display unlimited self-renewal and can be expanded *in vitro* giving rise to multiple subtypes of neurons, astrocytes and oligodendrocytes (Ruggieri et al., 2014, Thier et al., 2012). Compared with the circuitous two-step strategy used during the conversion of somatic cells to iPSCs (and subsequent differentiation into neural stem cells), the relatively straightforward reprogramming of iNSCs is highly efficient, direct and safe. The reprogramming method used to generate iNSCs requires only one step that is completed in <20 days *in vitro* and yields numerous colonies of mouse iNSCs (Thier et al., 2012). Moreover, iNSCs exhibit negligible teratogenic potential, while displaying attributes suggestive of potential for reparative/restorative therapies targeting neurological diseases. The aforesaid when coupled with the recent advances in non-integrating cellular reprogramming technology make these next generation stably expandable patient-specific stem cell therapeutics extremely attractive (Sancho-Martinez and Izpisua Belmonte, 2013). Despite such positive attributes clinical trials have yet to begin.

5. Challenges to the effective translational of stem cell therapeutics in MS

While it is critical to note that there have been few reports of safety issues arising from autologous or allogeneic transplants it is widely acknowledged that prior to the successful implementation of novel stem cell based therapeutics, a number of pertinent scientific, ethical, regulatory, translational and clinical challenges will need to be met/overcome in order to successfully capitalize on the transition from proof-of-concept studies in animal models to clinically relevant therapies in man. Major hurdles precluding the translation of stem-based therapies into the clinic are centered on the inevitable risks related to transplant rejection and fundamental ethical concerns that exist within our society (i.e. those relating to the source of the tissue). Further, many stem cell types are hindered by a limited expandability and/or genotypic stability over extensive passaging in vitro (Ramos-Zuniga et al., 2012, Rice et al., 2013). All of the aforementioned affect the commercial viability/potential of such stem-based therapeutics. Therefore the successful translational of such novel therapies may ultimately require public/private partnerships (Rao, 2013).

6. Conclusions

As per the abovementioned a vast array of preclinical and early clinical data have come to suggest the potential therapeutic utility of stem cell centered approaches in various neurological diseases and disorders including progressive MS. Despite such progress, further work will be required to categorically define the underlying immunological and neurobiological mechanisms causing progressive MS pathology and in so doing determine whether patients suffering from this disease will ultimately benefit from non-hematopoietic stem cell-based therapeutics. In accordance with such findings it is prudent to again note that nHSCs have been shown to possess a therapeutic profile that is distinct from that of small molecules and/or biologics. As such it is reasonable to envision that cellular therapies might radically change its aspect modifying the way on which immune suppressive "drugs" are designed and/ or delivered and in so doing seek to exploit the unique ability of stem cells to migrate, integrate and ultimately modify the host's pathologic CNS microenvironment(s).

As such, it is the authors' contention that these distinct attributes may be ultimately be harnessed to treat the persistent CNS inflammation and/or tissue degeneration and/or demyelination that are hallmarks of chronic/progressive MS in the clinic.

Conflict of interest

No conflicts of interest to disclose.

Acknowledgements

The authors wish to thank Ms. Alicia Livinski (NIH biomedical librarian/informationist) for assistance with the literature review. We acknowledge the contribution of past and present members of Pluchino laboratory, who have contributed to (or inspired) this manuscript. This work was supported by the Italian Multiple Sclerosis Association (AISM, grant 2010/R/31 and grant 2014/PMS/4 to SP), the United States Department of Defense (DoD) Congressionally Directed Medical Research Programs (CDMRP; grant MS140019 to SP), the Italian Ministry of Health (GR08-7 to SP), the European Research Council (ERC) under the ERC-

ARTICLE IN PRESS

G. Volpe et al. / Journal of Neuroimmunology xxx (2016) xxx-xxx

2010-StG Grant agreement n° 260511-SEM_SEM, the UK Regenerative Medicine Platform Acellular Hub (Partnership award RG 69889 to SP), the Evelyn Trust (RG 69865 to SP), the Bascule Charitable Trust (RG 75149 to SP) and a core support grant from the Wellcome Trust and Medical Research Council to the Wellcome Trust – MRC Cambridge Stem Cell Institute. LPJ was supported by a Wellcome Trust Research training fellowship (grant no. RRZA/05 and RG79423). JDB was supported by the Intramural Research Program of NINDS/NIH and an IRTA-OxCam training fellowship.

References

Aggarwal, S., Pittenger, M.F., 2005. Human mesenchymal stem cells modulate allogeneic immune cell responses. Blood 105, 1815–1822.

- Aharonowiz, M., Einstein, O., Fainstein, N., Lassmann, H., Reubinoff, B., Ben-Hur, T., 2008. Neuroprotective effect of transplanted human embryonic stem cell-derived neural precursors in an animal model of multiple sclerosis. PLoS One 3, e3145.
- Ahuja, C.S., Fehlings, M., 2016. Concise Review: Bridging the Gap: Novel Neuroregenerative and Neuroprotective Strategies in Spinal Cord Injury. Stem Cells Transl. Med. 5, 914–924.
- Al Nimer, F., Wennersten, A., Holmin, S., Meijer, X., Wahlberg, L., Mathiesen, T.M.H.C., 2004. expression after human neural stem cell transplantation to brain contused rats. Neuroreport 15, 1871–1875.
- Aloisi, F., Pujol-Borrell, R., 2006. Lymphoid neogenesis in chronic inflammatory diseases. Nat. Rev. Immunol. 6, 205–217.
- Andres, R.H., Choi, R., Pendharkar, A.V., Gaeta, X., Wang, N., Nathan, J.K., et al., 2011. The CCR2/CCL2 interaction mediates the transendothelial recruitment of intravascularly delivered neural stem cells to the ischemic brain. Stroke J. Cereb. Circ. 42, 2923–2931.
- Ankrum, J.A., Ong, J.F., Karp, J.M., 2014. Mesenchymal stem cells: immune evasive, not immune privileged. Nat. Biotechnol. 32, 252–260.
- Auletta, J.J., Bartholomew, A.M., Maziarz, R.T., Deans, R.J., Miller, R.H., Lazarus, H.M., et al., 2012. The potential of mesenchymal stromal cells as a novel cellular therapy for multiple sclerosis. Immunotherapy 4, 529–547.
- Bacigaluppi, M., Pluchino, S., Peruzzotti-Jametti, L., Kilic, E., Kilic, U., Salani, G., et al., 2009. Delayed post-ischaemic neuroprotection following systemic neural stem cell transplantation involves multiple mechanisms. Brain 132, 2239–2251.
- Bai, L., Lennon, D.P., Eaton, V., Maier, K., Caplan, A.I., Miller, S.D., et al., 2009. Human bone marrow-derived mesenchymal stem cells induce Th2-polarized immune response and promote endogenous repair in animal models of multiple sclerosis. Glia 57, 1192–1203.
- Bai, L., Lennon, D.P., Caplan, A.I., DeChant, A., Hecker, J., Kranso, J., et al., 2012. Hepatocyte growth factor mediates mesenchymal stem cell-induced recovery in multiple sclerosis models. Nat. Neurosci. 15, 862–870.
- Baksh, D., Yao, R., Tuan, R.S., 2007. Comparison of proliferative and multilineage differentiation potential of human mesenchymal stem cells derived from umbilical cord and bone marrow. Stem Cells 25, 1384–1392.
- Bang, O.Y., Lee, J.S., Lee, P.H., Lee, G., 2005. Autologous mesenchymal stem cell transplantation in stroke patients. Ann. Neurol. 57, 874–882.
- Benedetti, S., Pirola, B., Pollo, B., Magrassi, L., Bruzzone, M.G., Rigamonti, D., et al., 2000. Gene therapy of experimental brain tumors using neural progenitor cells. Nat. Med. 6, 447–450.
- Ben-Hur, T., 2008. Immunomodulation by neural stem cells. J. Neurol. Sci. 265, 102-104.
- Ben-Hur, T., Einstein, O., Mizrachi-Kol, R., Ben-Menachem, O., Reinhartz, E., Karussis, D., et al., 2003. Transplanted multipotential neural precursor cells migrate into the inflamed white matter in response to experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. Glia 41, 73–80.
- Bernstock, J., Verheyen, J., Huang, B., Hallenbeck, J., Pluchino, S., 2014. Typical and atypical stem cell niches of the adult Nervous System in health and inflammatory brain and spinal cord diseases. Adult Stem Cell Niches. 211–288.
- Bianco, P., Cao, X., Frenette, P.S., Mao, J.J., Robey, P.G., Simmons, P.J., et al., 2013. The meaning, the sense and the significance: translating the science of mesenchymal stem cells into medicine. Nat. Med. 19, 35–42.
- Bonab, M.M., Sahraian, M.A., Aghsaie, A., Karvigh, S.A., Hosseinian, S.M., Nikbin, B., et al., 2012. Autologous mesenchymal stem cell therapy in progressive multiple sclerosis: an open label study. Curr. Stem Cell Res. Ther. 7, 407–414.
 Bowen, J.D., Kraft, G.H., Wundes, A., Guan, Q., Maravilla, K.R., Gooley, T.A., et al., 2012. Au-
- Bowen, J.D., Kraft, G.H., Wundes, A., Guan, Q., Maravilla, K.R., Gooley, T.A., et al., 2012. Autologous hematopoietic cell transplantation following high-dose immunosuppressive therapy for advanced multiple sclerosis: long-term results. Bone Marrow Transplant. 47, 946–951.
- Bravo, B., Gallego, M.I., Flores, A.I., Bornstein, R., Puente-Bedia, A., Hernandez, J., et al., 2016. Restrained Th17 response and myeloid cell infiltration into the central nervous system by human decidua-derived mesenchymal stem cells during experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. Curr. Stem Cell Res. Ther. 7 (43).
- Burt, R.K., Cohen, B.A., Russell, E., Spero, K., Joshi, A., Oyama, Y., et al., 2003. Hematopoietic stem cell transplantation for progressive multiple sclerosis: failure of a total body irradiation-based conditioning regimen to prevent disease progression in patients with high disability scores. Blood 102, 2373–2378.
- Calabrese, C., Poppleton, H., Kocak, M., Hogg, T.L., Fuller, C., Hamner, B., et al., 2007. A perivascular niche for brain tumor stem cells. Cancer Cell 11, 69–82.
- Cao, Q.L., Howard, R.M., Dennison, J.B., Whittemore, S.R., 2002. Differentiation of engrafted neuronal-restricted precursor cells is inhibited in the traumatically injured spinal cord. Exp. Neurol. 177, 349–359.

- Capone, C., Frigerio, S., Fumagalli, S., Gelati, M., Principato, M.C., Storini, C., et al., 2007. Neurosphere-derived cells exert a neuroprotective action by changing the ischemic microenvironment. PLoS One 2, e373.
- Chiesa, S., Morbelli, S., Morando, S., Massollo, M., Marini, C., Bertoni, A., et al., 2011. Mesenchymal stem cells impair in vivo T-cell priming by dendritic cells. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 108, 17384–17389.
- Chiu, A.Y., Rao, M.S., 2011. Cell-based therapy for neural disorders–anticipating challenges. Neurotherapeutics 8, 744–752.
- Choi, S.R., Howell, O.W., Carassiti, D., Magliozzi, R., Gveric, D., Muraro, P.A., et al., 2012. Meningeal inflammation plays a role in the pathology of primary progressive multiple sclerosis. Brain 135, 2925–2937.
- Cohen, J.A., 2013. Mesenchymal stem cell transplantation in multiple sclerosis. J. Neurol. Sci. 333, 43–49.
- Cohen, J.A., Barkhof, F., Comi, G., Hartung, H.P., Khatri, B.O., Montalban, X., et al., 2010. Oral fingolimod or intramuscular interferon for relapsing multiple sclerosis. N. Engl. J. Med. 362, 402–415.
- Comi, G., 2013. Disease-modifying treatments for progressive multiple sclerosis. Mult. Scler. 19, 1428–1436.
- Compston, A., Coles, A., 2002. Multiple sclerosis. Lancet 359, 1221-1231.
- Connick, P., Kolappan, M., Crawley, C., Webber, D.J., Patani, R., Michell, A.W., et al., 2012. Autologous mesenchymal stem cells for the treatment of secondary progressive multiple sclerosis: an open-label phase 2a proof-of-concept study. Lancet Neurol. 11, 150–156.
- Constantin, G., Marconi, S., Rossi, B., Angiari, S., Calderan, L., Anghileri, E., et al., 2009. Adipose-derived mesenchymal stem cells ameliorate chronic experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. Stem Cells 27, 2624–2635.
- Cossetti, C., Alfaro-Cervello, C., Donega, M., Tyzack, G., Pluchino, S., 2012. New perspectives of tissue remodelling with neural stem and progenitor cell-based therapies. Cell Tissue Res. 349, 321–329.
- Cusimano, M., Biziato, D., Brambilla, E., Donega, M., Alfaro-Cervello, C., Snider, S., et al., 2012. Transplanted neural stem/precursor cells instruct phagocytes and reduce secondary tissue damage in the injured spinal cord. Brain J. Neurol. 135, 447–460.
- Daadi, M.M., Davis, A.S., Arac, A., Li, Z., Maag, A.L., Bhatnagar, R., et al., 2010. Human neural stem cell grafts modify microglial response and enhance axonal sprouting in neonatal hypoxic-ischemic brain injury. Stroke J. Cereb. Circ. 41, 516–523.
- Darsalia, V., Kallur, T., Kokaia, Z., 2007. Survival, migration and neuronal differentiation of human fetal striatal and cortical neural stem cells grafted in stroke-damaged rat striatum. Eur. J. Neurosci. 26, 605–614.
- Deuse, T., Stubbendorff, M., Tang-Quan, K., Phillips, N., Kay, M.A., Eiermann, T., et al., 2011. Immunogenicity and immunomodulatory properties of umbilical cord lining mesenchymal stem cells. Cell Transplant. 20, 655–667.
- Di Nicola, M., Carlo-Stella, C., Magni, M., Milanesi, M., Longoni, P.D., Matteucci, P., et al., 2002. Human bone marrow stromal cells suppress T-lymphocyte proliferation induced by cellular or nonspecific mitogenic stimuli. Blood 99, 3838–3843.
- Diez-Tejedor, E., Gutierrez-Fernandez, M., Martinez-Sanchez, P., Rodriguez-Frutos, B., Ruiz-Ares, G., Lara, M.L., et al., 2014. Reparative therapy for acute ischemic stroke with allogeneic mesenchymal stem cells from adipose tissue: a safety assessment: a phase II randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled, single-center, pilot clinical trial. J. Stroke Cerebrovasc. Dis. 23, 2694–2700.
- Doeppner, T.R., Traut, V., Heidenreich, A., Kaltwasser, B., Bosche, B., Bahr, M., et al., 2016. Conditioned medium derived from neural progenitor cells induces long-term post-ischemic neuroprotection, sustained neurological recovery, neurogenesis, and angiogenesis. Mol. Neurobiol.
- Doetsch, F., Petreanu, L., Caille, I., Garcia-Verdugo, J.M., Alvarez-Buylla, A., 2002. EGF converts transit-amplifying neurogenic precursors in the adult brain into multipotent stem cells. Neuron 36, 1021–1034.
- Dominici, M., Le Blanc, K., Mueller, I., Slaper-Cortenbach, I., Marini, F., Krause, D., et al., 2006. Minimal criteria for defining multipotent mesenchymal stromal cells. The International Society for Cellular Therapy position statement. Cytotherapy 8, 315–317.
- Donders, R., Vanheusden, M., Bogie, J.F., Ravanidis, S., Thewissen, K., Stinissen, P., et al., 2015. Human Wharton's jelly-derived stem cells display immunomodulatory properties and transiently improve rat experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. Cell Transplant. 24, 2077–2098.
- Dulamea, A., 2015. Mesenchymal stem cells in multiple sclerosis translation to clinical trials. J. Med. Life 8, 24–27.
- Ebers, G.C., 2004. Natural history of primary progressive multiple sclerosis. Mult. Scler. 10 (Suppl. 1), S8–13 (discussion S-5).
- Einstein, O., Karussis, D., Grigoriadis, N., Mizrachi-Kol, R., Reinhartz, E., Abramsky, O., et al., 2003. Intraventricular transplantation of neural precursor cell spheres attenuates acute experimental allergic encephalomyelitis. Mol. Cell. Neurosci. 24, 1074–1082.
- Einstein, O., Grigoriadis, N., Mizrachi-Kol, R., Reinhartz, E., Polyzoidou, E., Lavon, I., et al., 2006. Transplanted neural precursor cells reduce brain inflammation to attenuate chronic experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. Exp. Neurol. 198, 275–284.
- Einstein, O., Fainstein, N., Vaknin, I., Mizrachi-Kol, R., Reihartz, E., Grigoriadis, N., et al., 2007. Neural precursors attenuate autoimmune encephalomyelitis by peripheral immunosuppression. Ann. Neurol. 61, 209–218.
- Einstein, O., Friedman-Levi, Y., Grigoriadis, N., Ben-Hur, T., 2009. Transplanted neural precursors enhance host brain-derived myelin regeneration. J. Neurosci. 29, 15694–15702.
- Eliopoulos, N., Stagg, J., Lejeune, L., Pommey, S., Galipeau, J., 2005. Allogeneic marrow stromal cells are immune rejected by MHC class I- and class II-mismatched recipient mice. Blood 106, 4057–4065.
- El-Kheir, W.A., Gabr, H., Awad, M.R., Ghannam, O., Barakat, Y., Farghali, H.A., et al., 2014. Autologous bone marrow-derived cell therapy combined with physical therapy induces functional improvement in chronic spinal cord injury patients. Cell Transplant. 23, 729–745.

G. Volpe et al. / Journal of Neuroimmunology xxx (2016) xxx-xxx

- Emsley, J.G., Mitchell, B.D., Kempermann, G., Macklis, J.D., 2005. Adult neurogenesis and repair of the adult CNS with neural progenitors, precursors, and stem cells. Prog. Neurobiol. 75, 321–341.
- Fainstein, N., Vaknin, I., Einstein, O., Zisman, P., Ben Sasson, S.Z., Baniyash, M., et al., 2008. Neural precursor cells inhibit multiple inflammatory signals. Mol. Cell. Neurosci. 39, 335–341.
- Favaretto, A., Poggiali, D., Lazzarotto, A., Rolma, G., Causin, F., Gallo, P., 2015. The parallel analysis of phase sensitive inversion recovery (PSIR) and double inversion recovery (DIR) images significantly improves the detection of cortical lesions in multiple sclerosis (MS) since clinical onset. PLoS One 10, e0127805.
- Filippi, M., Rocca, M.A.M.R.I., 2005. evidence for multiple sclerosis as a diffuse disease of the central nervous system. J. Neurol. 252 (Suppl. 5), v16–v24.
- Filippi, M., Rocca, M.A., Ciccarelli, O., De Stefano, N., Evangelou, N., Kappos, L., et al., 2016. MRI criteria for the diagnosis of multiple sclerosis: MAGNIMS consensus guidelines. Lancet Neurol. 15, 292–303.
- Fischbach, M.A., Bluestone, J.A., Lim, W.A., 2013. Cell-based therapeutics: the next pillar of medicine. Sci. Transl. Med. 5 (179ps7).
- Fisher-Shoval, Y., Barhum, Y., Sadan, O., Yust-Katz, S., Ben-Zur, T., Lev, N., et al., 2012. Transplantation of placenta-derived mesenchymal stem cells in the EAE mouse model of MS. J. Mol. Neurosci.: MN 48, 176–184.
- Fong, C.Y., Gauthaman, K., Bongso, A., 2010. Teratomas from pluripotent stem cells: A clinical hurdle. J. Cell. Biochem. 111, 769–781.
- Fox, E.J., Rhoades, R.W., 2012. New treatments and treatment goals for patients with relapsing-remitting multiple sclerosis. Curr. Opin. Neurol. 25 (Suppl:S11–9).
- Fox, R.J., Thompson, A., Baker, D., Baneke, P., Brown, D., Browne, P., et al., 2012. Setting a research agenda for progressive multiple sclerosis: the International Collaborative on Progressive MS. Mult. Scler. 18, 1534–1540.
- Frantz, S., 2012. Embryonic stem cell pioneer Geron exits field, cuts losses. Nat. Biotechnol. 30, 12–13.
- Fraser, J.K., Wulur, I., Alfonso, Z., Hedrick, M.H., 2006. Fat tissue: an underappreciated source of stem cells for biotechnology. Trends Biotechnol. 24, 150–154.
- Freedman, M.S., Bar-Or, A., Atkins, H.L., Karussis, D., Frassoni, F., Lazarus, H., et al., 2010. The therapeutic potential of mesenchymal stem cell transplantation as a treatment for multiple sclerosis: consensus report of the International MSCT Study Group. Mult. Scler. 16, 503–510.
- Friedenstein, A.J., Chailakhyan, R.K., Latsinik, N.V., Panasyuk, A.F., Keiliss-Borok, I.V., 1974. Stromal cells responsible for transferring the microenvironment of the hemopoietic tissues. Cloning in vitro and retransplantation in vivo. Transplantation 17, 331–340.
- Galderisi, U., Giordano, A., 2014. The gap between the physiological and therapeutic roles of mesenchymal stem cells. Med. Res. Rev. 34, 1100–1126.
 Garber, K.R.I.K.E.N., 2015. suspends first clinical trial involving induced pluripotent stem
- cells. Nat. Biotechnol. 33, 890–891. Gelati, M., Profico, D., Projetti-Pensi, M., Muzi, G., Sgaravizzi, G., Vescovi, A.L., 2013. Cultur-
- ing and expansion of "clinical grade" precursors cells from the fetal human central nervous system. Methods Mol. Biol. 1059, 65–77.
- Gerdoni, E., Gallo, B., Casazza, S., Musio, S., Bonanni, I., Pedemonte, E., et al., 2007. Mesenchymal stem cells effectively modulate pathogenic immune response in experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. Ann. Neurol. 61, 219–227.
- Getting, S.J., Mahoney, D.J., Cao, T., Rugg, M.S., Fries, E., Milner, C.M., et al., 2002. The link module from human TSG-6 inhibits neutrophil migration in a hyaluronan- and interalpha -inhibitor-independent manner. J. Biol. Chem. 277, 51068–51076.
- Glass, J.D., Boulis, N.M., Johe, K., Rutkove, S.B., Federici, T., Polak, M., et al., 2012. Lumbar intraspinal injection of neural stem cells in patients with amyotrophic lateral sclerosis: results of a phase I trial in 12 patients. Stem Cells 30, 1144–1151.
- Glenn, J.D., Smith, M.D., Kirby, L.A., Baxi, E.G., Whartenby, K.A., 2015. Disparate effects of mesenchymal stem cells in experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis and cuprizone-induced demyelination. PLoS One 10, e0139008.
- Gordon, D., Pavlovska, G., Glover, C.P., Uney, J.B., Wraith, D., Scolding, N.J., 2008. Human mesenchymal stem cells abrogate experimental allergic encephalomyelitis after intraperitoneal injection, and with sparse CNS infiltration. Neurosci. Lett. 448, 71–73.
- Gordon, D., Pavlovska, G., Uney, J.B., Wraith, D.C., Scolding, N.J., 2010. Human mesenchymal stem cells infiltrate the spinal cord, reduce demyelination, and localize to white matter lesions in experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. J. Neuropathol. Exp. Neurol. 69, 1087–1095.
- Grigoriadis, N., Lourbopoulos, A., Lagoudaki, R., Frischer, J.M., Polyzoidou, E., Touloumi, O., et al., 2011. Variable behavior and complications of autologous bone marrow mesenchymal stem cells transplanted in experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. Exp. Neurol. 230, 78–89.
- Guo, Y., Chan, K.H., Lai, W.H., Siu, C.W., Kwan, S.C., Tse, H.F., et al., 2013. Human mesenchymal stem cells upregulate CD1dCD5(+) regulatory B cells in experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. Neuroimmunomodulation 20, 294–303.
- Gupta, N., Henry, R.G., Strober, J., Kang, S.M., Lim, D.A., Bucci, M., et al., 2012. Neural stem cell engraftment and myelination in the human brain. Sci. Transl. Med. 4 (155ra37).
- Harris, V.K., Faroqui, R., Vyshkina, T., Sadiq, S.A., 2012. Characterization of autologous mesenchymal stem cell-derived neural progenitors as a feasible source of stem cells for central nervous system applications in multiple sclerosis. Stem Cells Transl. Med. 1, 536–547.
- Harris, V., Vyshkina, T., Chirls, S., Sadiq, S., 2015. Interim analysis of a phase I clinical trial investigating intrathecal administration of mesenchymal stem cell-neural progenitors in multiple sclerosis (P7.200). Neurology 84.
- Hass, R., Kasper, C., Bohm, S., Jacobs, R., 2011. Different populations and sources of human mesenchymal stem cells (MSC): a comparison of adult and neonatal tissue-derived MSC. Cell Commun. Signal 9 (12).
- Hauser, S.L., Chan, J.R., Oksenberg, J.R., 2013. Multiple sclerosis: prospects and promise. Ann. Neurol. 74, 317–327.

- Honmou, O., Houkin, K., Matsunaga, T., Niitsu, Y., Ishiai, S., Onodera, R., et al., 2011. Intravenous administration of auto serum-expanded autologous mesenchymal stem cells in stroke. Brain 134, 1790–1807.
- Hoogduijn, M.J., Dor, F.J., 2013. Mesenchymal stem cells: are we ready for clinical application in transplantation and tissue regeneration? Front. Immunol. 4, 144.
- In 't Anker, P.S., Scherjon, S.A., Kleijburg-van der Keur, C., de Groot-Swings, G.M., Claas, F.H., Fibbe, W.E., et al., 2004. Isolation of mesenchymal stem cells of fetal or maternal origin from human placenta. Stem Cells 22, 1338–1345.
- Jiang, X.X., Zhang, Y., Liu, B., Zhang, S.X., Wu, Y., XD, Y., et al., 2005. Human mesenchymal stem cells inhibit differentiation and function of monocyte-derived dendritic cells. Blood 105, 4120–4126.
- Kapoor, R., Furby, J., Hayton, T., Smith, K.J., Altmann, D.R., Brenner, R., et al., 2010. Lamotrigine for neuroprotection in secondary progressive multiple sclerosis: a randomised, double-blind, placebo-controlled, parallel-group trial. Lancet Neurol. 9, 681–688.
- Karussis, D., Karageorgiou, C., Vaknin-Dembinsky, A., Gowda-Kurkalli, B., Gomori, J.M., Kassis, I., Bulte, J.W., Petrou, P., Ben-Hur, T., Abramsky, O., Slavin, S., 2010. Safety and immunological effects of mesenchymal stem cell transplantation in patients with multiple sclerosis and amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. Arch. Neurol. 67, 1187–1194.
- Kassis, I., Grigoriadis, N., Gowda-Kurkalli, B., Mizrachi-Kol, R., Ben-Hur, T., Slavin, S., et al., 2008. Neuroprotection and immunomodulation with mesenchymal stem cells in chronic experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. Arch. Neurol. 65, 753–761.
- Kassis, I., Petrou, P., Halimi, M., Karussis, D., 2013. Mesenchymal stem cells (MSC) derived from mice with experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis (EAE) suppress EAE and have similar biological properties with MSC from healthy donors. Immunol. Lett. 154, 70–76.
- Kemp, K., Gordon, D., Wraith, D.C., Mallam, E., Hartfield, E., Uney, J., et al., 2011. Fusion between human mesenchymal stem cells and rodent cerebellar Purkinje cells. Neuropathol. Appl. Neurobiol. 37, 166–178.
- Kim, S.Y., Cho, H.S., Yang, S.H., Shin, J.Y., Kim, J.S., Lee, S.T., et al., 2009. Soluble mediators from human neural stem cells play a critical role in suppression of T-cell activation and proliferation. J. Neurosci. Res. 87, 2264–2272.
- Kim, S.J., Moon, G.J., Chang, W.H., Kim, Y.H., Bang, O.Y., collaborators S, 2013. Intravenous transplantation of mesenchymal stem cells preconditioned with early phase stroke serum: current evidence and study protocol for a randomized trial. Trials 14 (317).
- Kimiskidis, V., Sakellari, I., Tsimourtou, V., Kapina, V., Papagiannopoulos, S., Kazis, D., et al., 2008. Autologous stem-cell transplantation in malignant multiple sclerosis: a case with a favorable long-term outcome. Mult. Scler. 14, 278–283.
- Kurte, M., Bravo-Alegria, J., Torres, A., Carrasco, V., Ibanez, C., Vega-Letter, A.M., et al., 2015. Intravenous administration of bone marrow-derived mesenchymal stem cells induces a switch from classical to atypical symptoms in experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. Stem Cells Int. 2015, 140170.
- Kutzelnigg, A., Lucchinetti, C.F., Stadelmann, C., Bruck, W., Rauschka, H., Bergmann, M., et al., 2005. Cortical demyelination and diffuse white matter injury in multiple sclerosis. Brain 128, 2705–2712.
- Lalancette-Hebert, M., Gowing, G., Simard, A., Weng, Y.C., Kriz, J., 2007. Selective ablation of proliferating microglial cells exacerbates ischemic injury in the brain. J. Neurosci. 27, 2596–2605.
- Lalu, M.M., McIntyre, L., Pugliese, C., Fergusson, D., Winston, B.W., Marshall, J.C., et al., 2012. Safety of cell therapy with mesenchymal stromal cells (SafeCell): a systematic review and meta-analysis of clinical trials. PLoS One 7, e47559.
- Lanz, T.V., Opitz, C.A., Ho, P.P., Agrawal, A., Lutz, C., Weller, M., et al., 2010. Mouse mesenchymal stem cells suppress antigen-specific TH cell immunity independent of indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase 1 (IDO1). Stem Cells Dev. 19, 657–668.
- Lanza, C., Morando, S., Voci, A., Canesi, L., Principato, M.C., Serpero, L.D., et al., 2009. Neuroprotective mesenchymal stem cells are endowed with a potent antioxidant effect in vivo. J. Neurochem. 110, 1674–1684.
- Lassmann, H., 2012. Cortical lesions in multiple sclerosis: inflammation versus neurodegeneration. Brain 135, 2904–2905.
- Lassmann, H., Bruck, W., Lucchinetti, C.F., 2007. The immunopathology of multiple sclerosis: an overview. Brain Pathol. 17, 210–218.
- Lassmann, H., van Horssen, J., Mahad, D., 2012. Progressive multiple sclerosis: pathology and pathogenesis. Nat. Rev. Neurol. 8, 647–656.
- Laterza, C., Merlini, A., De Feo, D., Ruffini, F., Menon, R., Onorati, M., et al., 2013. iPSC-derived neural precursors exert a neuroprotective role in immune-mediated demyelination via the secretion of LIF. Nat. Commun. 4 (2597).
- Le Blanc, K., Tammik, C., Rosendahl, K., Zetterberg, E., Ringden, O., 2003a. HLA expression and immunologic properties of differentiated and undifferentiated mesenchymal stem cells. Exp. Hematol. 31, 890–896.
- Le Blanc, K., Tammik, L., Sundberg, B., Haynesworth, S.E., Ringden, O., 2003b. Mesenchymal stem cells inhibit and stimulate mixed lymphocyte cultures and mitogenic responses independently of the major histocompatibility complex. Scand. J. Immunol. 57, 11–20.
- Le Blanc, K., Frassoni, F., Ball, L., Locatelli, F., Roelofs, H., Lewis, I., et al., 2008. Mesenchymal stem cells for treatment of steroid-resistant, severe, acute graft-versus-host disease: a phase II study. Lancet 371, 1579–1586.
- Lee, P.H., Kim, J.W., Bang, O.Y., Ahn, Y.H., Joo, I.S., Huh, K., 2008a. Autologous mesenchymal stem cell therapy delays the progression of neurological deficits in patients with multiple system atrophy. Clin. Pharmacol. Ther. 83, 723–730.
- Lee, S.T., Chu, K., Jung, K.H., Kim, S.J., Kim, D.H., Kang, K.M., et al., 2008b. Anti-inflammatory mechanism of intravascular neural stem cell transplantation in haemorrhagic stroke. Brain 131, 616–629.
- Lee, J.S., Hong, J.M., Moon, G.J., Lee, P.H., Ahn, Y.H., Bang, O.Y., 2010. A long-term follow-up study of intravenous autologous mesenchymal stem cell transplantation in patients with ischemic stroke. Stem Cells 28, 1099–1106.

<u>ARTICLE IN PRESS</u>

G. Volpe et al. / Journal of Neuroimmunology xxx (2016) xxx-xxx

- Lee, P.H., Lee, J.E., Kim, H.S., Song, S.K., Lee, H.S., Nam, H.S., et al., 2012. A randomized trial of mesenchymal stem cells in multiple system atrophy. Ann. Neurol. 72, 32–40.
- Li, H., Guo, Z., Jiang, X., Zhu, H., Li, X., Mao, N., 2008. Mesenchymal stem cells alter migratory property of T and dendritic cells to delay the development of murine lethal acute graft-versus-host disease. Stem Cells 26, 2531–2541.
- Liang, G., Zhang, Y., 2013. Genetic and epigenetic variations in iPSCs: potential causes and implications for application. Cell Stem Cell 13, 149–159.
- Lie, D.C., Song, H., Colamarino, S.A., Ming, G.L., Gage, F.H., 2004. Neurogenesis in the adult brain: new strategies for central nervous system diseases. Annu. Rev. Pharmacol. Toxicol. 44, 399–421.
- Llufriu, S., Sepulveda, M., Blanco, Y., Marin, P., Moreno, B., Berenguer, J., Gabilondo, I., Martínez-Heras, E., Sola-Valls, N., Arnaiz, J.A., Andreu, E.J., Fernández, B., Bullich, S., Sánchez-Dalmau, B., Graus, F., Villoslada, P., Saiz, A., 2014. Randomized placebo-controlled phase II trial of autologous mesenchymal stem cells in multiple sclerosis. PLoS One 9, e113936.
- Lublin, F.D., Reingold, S.C., 1996. Defining the clinical course of multiple sclerosis: results of an international survey. National Multiple Sclerosis Society (USA) Advisory Committee on Clinical Trials of New Agents in Multiple Sclerosis. Neurology 46, 907–911.
- Lublin, F.D., Reingold, S.C., Cohen, J.A., Cutter, G.R., Sorensen, P.S., Thompson, A.J., et al., 2014. Defining the clinical course of multiple sclerosis: The 2013 revisions. Neurology 83, 278–286.
- Luz-Crawford, P., Kurte, M., Bravo-Alegria, J., Contreras, R., Nova-Lamperti, E., Tejedor, G., et al., 2013. Mesenchymal stem cells generate a CD4+CD25+Foxp3+ regulatory T cell population during the differentiation process of Th1 and Th17 cells. Stem Cell Res. Ther. 4 (65).
- Magliozzi, R., Howell, O., Vora, A., Serafini, B., Nicholas, R., Puopolo, M., et al., 2007. Meningeal B-cell follicles in secondary progressive multiple sclerosis associate with early onset of disease and severe cortical pathology. Brain 130, 1089–1104.
- Magliozzi, R., Howell, O.W., Reeves, C., Roncaroli, F., Nicholas, R., Serafini, B., et al., 2010. A gradient of neuronal loss and meningeal inflammation in multiple sclerosis. Ann. Neurol. 68, 477–493.
- Mallam, E., Kemp, K., Wilkins, A., Rice, C., Scolding, N., 2010. Characterization of in vitro expanded bone marrow-derived mesenchymal stem cells from patients with multiple sclerosis. Mult. Scler. 16, 909–918.
- Mallucci, G., Peruzzotti-Jametti, L., Bernstock, J.D., Pluchino, S., 2015. The role of immune cells, glia and neurons in white and gray matter pathology in multiple sclerosis. Prog. Neurobiol. 127–128, 1–22.
- Mancardi, G., Saccardi, R., 2008. Autologous haematopoietic stem-cell transplantation in multiple sclerosis. Lancet Neurol. 7, 626–636.
- Mancardi, G.L., Murialdo, A., Rossi, P., Gualandi, F., Martino, G., Marmont, A., et al., 2005. Autologous stem cell transplantation as rescue therapy in malignant forms of multiple sclerosis. Mult. Scler. 11, 367–371.
- Marin-Banasco, C., Suardiaz Garcia, M., Hurtado Guerrero, I., Maldonado Sanchez, R., Estivill-Torrus, G., Leyva Fernandez, L., et al., 2014. Mesenchymal properties of SJL mice-stem cells and their efficacy as autologous therapy in a relapsing-remitting multiple sclerosis model. Stem Cell Res. Ther. 5 (134).
- Martino, G., Pluchino, S., 2006. The therapeutic potential of neural stem cells. Nat. Rev. Neurosci. 7, 395–406.
- Martino, G., Pluchino, S., Bonfanti, L., Schwartz, M., 2011. Brain regeneration in physiology and pathology: the immune signature driving therapeutic plasticity of neural stem cells. Physiol. Rev. 91, 1281–1304.
- Maslov, A.Y., Barone, T.A., Plunkett, R.J., Pruitt, S.C., 2004. Neural stem cell detection, characterization, and age-related changes in the subventricular zone of mice. J. Neurosci. 24, 1726–1733.
- Matysiak, M., Stasiolek, M., Orlowski, W., Jurewicz, A., Janczar, S., Raine, C.S., et al., 2008. Stem cells ameliorate EAE via an indoleamine 2,3-dioxygenase (IDO) mechanism. J. Neuroimmunol. 193, 12–23.
- Matysiak, M., Orlowski, W., Fortak-Michalska, M., Jurewicz, A., Selmaj, K., 2011. Immunoregulatory function of bone marrow mesenchymal stem cells in EAE depends on their differentiation state and secretion of PGE2. J. Neuroimmunol. 233, 106–111.
- Mazzanti, B., Aldinucci, A., Biagioli, T., Barilaro, A., Urbani, S., Dal Pozzo, S., et al., 2008. Differences in mesenchymal stem cell cytokine profiles between MS patients and healthy donors: implication for assessment of disease activity and treatment. J. Neuroimmunol. 199, 142–150.
- Mazzini, L., Ferrero, I., Luparello, V., Rustichelli, D., Gunetti, M., Mareschi, K., et al., 2010. Mesenchymal stem cell transplantation in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis: a phase I clinical trial. Exp. Neurol. 223, 229–237.
- Mazzini, L, Gelati, M., Profico, D.C., Sgaravizzi, G., Projetti Pensi, M., Muzi, G., et al., 2015. Human neural stem cell transplantation in ALS: initial results from a phase I trial. J. Transl. Med. 13 (17).
- McNiece, I., 2007. Subsets of mesenchymal stromal cells. Cytotherapy 9, 301–302.
- Meinl, E., Krumbholz, M., Hohlfeld, R.B., 2006. lineage cells in the inflammatory central nervous system environment: migration, maintenance, local antibody production, and therapeutic modulation. Ann. Neurol. 59, 880–892.
- Meinl, E., Krumbholz, M., Derfuss, T., Junker, A., Hohlfeld, R., 2008. Compartmentalization of inflammation in the CNS: a major mechanism driving progressive multiple sclerosis. J. Neurol. Sci. 274, 42–44.
- Mendez-Ferrer, S., Michurina, T.V., Ferraro, F., Mazloom, A.R., Macarthur, B.D., Lira, S.A., et al., 2010. Mesenchymal and haematopoietic stem cells form a unique bone marrow niche. Nature 466, 829–834.
- Mendonca, M.V., Larocca, T.F., de Freitas Souza, B.S., Villarreal, C.F., Silva, L.F., Matos, A.C., et al., 2014. Safety and neurological assessments after autologous transplantation of bone marrow mesenchymal stem cells in subjects with chronic spinal cord injury. Stem Cell Res. Ther. 5, 126.

- Mi, R., Luo, Y., Cai, J., Limke, T.L., Rao, M.S., Hoke, A., 2005. Immortalized neural stem cells differ from nonimmortalized cortical neurospheres and cerebellar granule cell progenitors. Exp. Neurol. 194, 301–319.
- Milner, C.M., Higman, V.A., Day, A.J., 2006. TSG-6: a pluripotent inflammatory mediator? Biochem. Soc. Trans. 34, 446–450.
- Mitra, N.K., Bindal, U., Eng Hwa, W., Chua, C.L., Tan, C.Y., 2015. Evaluation of locomotor function and microscopic structure of the spinal cord in a mouse model of experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis following treatment with syngeneic mesenchymal stem cells. Int. J. Clin. Exp. Pathol. 8, 12041–12052.Morando, S., Vigo, T., Esposito, M., Casazza, S., Novi, G., Principato, M.C., et al., 2012. The
- Morando, S., Vigo, T., Esposito, M., Casazza, S., Novi, G., Principato, M.C., et al., 2012. The therapeutic effect of mesenchymal stem cell transplantation in experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis is mediated by peripheral and central mechanisms. Stem Cell Res. Ther. 3 (3).
- Mosher, K.I., Andres, R.H., Fukuhara, T., Bieri, G., Hasegawa-Moriyama, M., He, Y., et al., 2012. Neural progenitor cells regulate microglia functions and activity. Nat. Neurosci. 15, 1485–1487.
- Mueller, F.J., Serobyan, N., Schraufstatter, I.U., DiScipio, R., Wakeman, D., Loring, J.F., et al., 2006. Adhesive interactions between human neural stem cells and inflamed human vascular endothelium are mediated by integrins. Stem Cells 24, 2367–2372.
- Muller, F.J., Snyder, E.Y., Loring, J.F., 2006. Gene therapy: can neural stem cells deliver? Nat. Rev. Neurosci. 7, 75–84.
- Nauta, A.J., Kruisselbrink, A.B., Lurvink, E., Willemze, R., Fibbe, W.E., 2006a. Mesenchymal stem cells inhibit generation and function of both CD34 + -derived and monocytederived dendritic cells. J. Immunol. 177, 2080–2087.
- Nauta, A.J., Westerhuis, G., Kruisselbrink, A.B., Lurvink, E.G., Willemze, R., Fibbe, W.E., 2006b. Donor-derived mesenchymal stem cells are immunogenic in an allogeneic host and stimulate donor graft rejection in a nonmyeloablative setting. Blood 108, 2114–2120.
- Odeberg, J., Piao, J.H., Samuelsson, E.B., Falci, S., Akesson, E., 2005. Low immunogenicity of in vitro-expanded human neural cells despite high MHC expression. J. Neuroimmunol. 161, 1–11.
- Oh, S.K., Choi, K.H., Yoo, J.Y., Kim, D.Y., Kim, S.J., Jeon, S.R., 2016. A phase III clinical trial showing limited efficacy of autologous mesenchymal stem cell therapy for spinal cord injury. Neurosurgery 78, 436–447 (discussion 47).
- Okita, K., Ichisaka, T., Yamanaka, S., 2007. Generation of germline-competent induced pluripotent stem cells. Nature 448, 313–317.
- Oswald, J., Boxberger, S., Jorgensen, B., Feldmann, S., Ehninger, G., Bornhauser, M., et al., 2004. Mesenchymal stem cells can be differentiated into endothelial cells in vitro. Stem Cells 22, 377–384.
- Payne, N.L., Sun, G., McDonald, C., Layton, D., Moussa, L., Emerson-Webber, A., et al., 2013. Distinct immunomodulatory and migratory mechanisms underpin the therapeutic potential of human mesenchymal stem cells in autoimmune demyelination. Cell Transplant. 22, 1409–1425.
- Pearl, J.I., Kean, L.S., Davis, M.M., Wu, J.C., 2012. Pluripotent stem cells: immune to the immune system? Sci. Transl. Med. 4 (164ps25).
- Peron, J.P., Jazedje, T., Brandao, W.N., Perin, P.M., Maluf, M., Evangelista, L.P., et al., 2012. Human endometrial-derived mesenchymal stem cells suppress inflammation in the central nervous system of EAE mice. Stem Cell Rev. 8, 940–952.
- Petrou, P., Gothelf, Y., Argov, Z., Gotkine, M., Levy, Y.S., Kassis, I., et al., 2016. Safety and clinical effects of mesenchymal stem cells Secreting neurotrophic factor transplantation in patients with amyotrophic Lateral sclerosis: results of phase 1/2 and 2a clinical trials. JAMA Neurol. 73, 337–344.
- Pluchino, S., Cossetti, C., 2013. How stem cells speak with host immune cells in inflammatory brain diseases. Glia 61, 1379–1401.
- Pluchino, S., Martino, G., 2008. The therapeutic plasticity of neural stem/precursor cells in multiple sclerosis. J. Neurol. Sci. 265, 105–110.
- Pluchino, S., Quattrini, A., Brambilla, E., Gritti, A., Salani, G., Dina, G., et al., 2003. Injection of adult neurospheres induces recovery in a chronic model of multiple sclerosis. Nature 422, 688–694.
- Pluchino, S., Zanotti, L., Rossi, B., Brambilla, E., Ottoboni, L., Salani, G., et al., 2005. Neurosphere-derived multipotent precursors promote neuroprotection by an immunomodulatory mechanism. Nature 436, 266–271.
- Pluchino, S., Gritti, A., Blezer, E., Amadio, S., Brambilla, E., Borsellino, G., et al., 2009a. Human neural stem cells ameliorate autoimmune encephalomyelitis in non-human primates. Ann. Neurol. 66, 343–354.
- Pluchino, S., Zanotti, L., Brambilla, E., Rovere-Querini, P., Capobianco, A., Alfaro-Cervello, C., et al., 2009b. Immune regulatory neural stem/precursor cells protect from central nervous system autoimmunity by restraining dendritic cell function. PLoS One 4, e5959.
- Rafei, M., Birman, E., Forner, K., Galipeau, J., 2009a. Allogeneic mesenchymal stem cells for treatment of experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. Mol. Ther. 17, 1799–1803.
- Rafei, M., Campeau, P.M., Aguilar-Mahecha, A., Buchanan, M., Williams, P., Birman, E., et al., 2009b. Mesenchymal stromal cells ameliorate experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis by inhibiting CD4 Th17 T cells in a CC chemokine ligand 2-dependent manner. J. Immunol. 182, 5994–6002.
- Raffaghello, L., Bianchi, G., Bertolotto, M., Montecucco, F., Busca, A., Dallegri, F., et al., 2008. Human mesenchymal stem cells inhibit neutrophil apoptosis: a model for neutrophil preservation in the bone marrow niche. Stem Cells 26, 151–162.
- Ramasamy, R., Fazekasova, H., Lam, E.W., Soeiro, I., Lombardi, G., Dazzi, F., 2007. Mesenchymal stem cells inhibit dendritic cell differentiation and function by preventing entry into the cell cycle. Transplantation 83, 71–76.
- Ramos-Zuniga, R., Gonzalez-Perez, O., Macias-Ornelas, A., Capilla-Gonzalez, V., Quinones-Hinojosa, A., 2012. Ethical implications in the use of embryonic and adult neural stem cells. Stem Cells Int. 2012, 470949.
- Rao, M., 2013. Public private partnerships: a marriage of necessity. Cell Stem Cell 12, 149–151.

G. Volpe et al. / Journal of Neuroimmunology xxx (2016) xxx-xxx

Reynolds, B.A., Weiss, S., 1992. Generation of neurons and astrocytes from isolated cells of the adult mammalian central nervous system. Science 255, 1707–1710.

Reynolds, B.A., Tetzlaff, W., Weiss, S.A., 1992. multipotent EGF-responsive striatal embryonic progenitor cell produces neurons and astrocytes. J. Neurosci. 12, GSK3beta is distur

- 4565–4574. Ricci-Vitiani, L., Lombardi, D.G., Signore, M., Biffoni, M., Pallini, R., Parati, E., et al., 2007. Human neural progenitor cells display limited cytotoxicity and increased oligodendrogenesis during inflammation. Cell Death Differ. 14, 876–878.
- Rice, C.M., Kemp, K., Wilkins, A., Scolding, N.J., 2013. Cell therapy for multiple sclerosis: an evolving concept with implications for other neurodegenerative diseases. Lancet 382, 1204–1213.
- Riley, J., Federici, T., Polak, M., Kelly, C., Glass, J., Raore, B., et al., 2012. Intraspinal stem cell transplantation in amyotrophic lateral sclerosis: a phase I safety trial, technical note, and lumbar safety outcomes. Neurosurgery 71, 405–416.
- Rissanen, E., Tuisku, J., Rokka, J., Paavilainen, T., Parkkola, R., Rinne, J.O., et al., 2014. Vivo detection of diffuse Inflammation in secondary progressive multiple sclerosis using PET imaging and the radioligand (1)(1)C-PK11195. J. Nucl. Med. 55, 939–944.
- Robberecht, W., Philips, T., 2013. The changing scene of amyotrophic lateral sclerosis. Nat. Rev. Neurosci. 14, 248–264.
- Rovaris, M., Judica, E., Sastre-Garriga, J., Rovira, A., Sormani, M.P., Benedetti, B., et al., 2008. Large-scale, multicentre, quantitative MRI study of brain and cord damage in primary progressive multiple sclerosis. Mult. Scler. 14, 455–464.
- Rozenberg, A., Rezk, A., Boivin, M.N., Darlington, P.J., Nyirenda, M., Li, R., et al., 2016. Human mesenchymal stem cells impact Th17 and Th1 responses through a prostaglandin E2 and myeloid-dependent mechanism. Stem Cells Transl. Med.
- Ruggieri, M., Riboldi, G., Brajkovic, S., Bucchia, M., Bresolin, N., Comi, G.P., et al., 2014. Induced neural stem cells: methods of reprogramming and potential therapeutic applications. Prog. Neurobiol. 114, 15–24.
- Samsonraj, R.M., Rai, B., Sathiyanathan, P., Puan, K.J., Rotzschke, O., Hui, J.H., et al., 2015. Establishing criteria for human mesenchymal stem cell potency. Stem Cells 33, 1878–1891.
- Sancho-Martinez, I., Izpisua Belmonte, J.C., 2013. Stem cells: surf the waves of reprogramming. Nature 493, 310–311.
- Scalfari, A., Neuhaus, A., Daumer, M., Muraro, P.A., Ebers, G.C., 2014. Onset of secondary progressive phase and long-term evolution of multiple sclerosis. J. Neurol. Neurosurg. Psychiatry 85, 67–75.
- Scruggs, B.A., Semon, J.A., Zhang, X., Zhang, S., Bowles, A.C., Pandey, A.C., et al., 2013. Age of the donor reduces the ability of human adipose-derived stem cells to alleviate symptoms in the experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis mouse model. Stem Cells Transl. Med. 2, 797–807.
- Selden, N.R., Al-Uzri, A., Huhn, S.L., Koch, T.K., Sikora, D.M., Nguyen-Driver, M.D., et al., 2013. Central nervous system stem cell transplantation for children with neuronal ceroid lipofuscinosis. J. Neurosurg. Pediatr. 11, 643–652.
- Serafini, B., Rosicarelli, B., Magliozzi, R., Stigliano, E., Aloisi, F., 2004. Detection of ectopic B-cell follicles with germinal centers in the meninges of patients with secondary progressive multiple sclerosis. Brain Pathol. 14, 164–174.
- Shalaby, S.M., Sabbah, N.A., Saber, T., Abdel Hamid, R.A., 2016. Adipose-derived mesenchymal stem cells modulate the immune response in chronic experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis model. IUBMB Life. 68, 106–115.
- Sheth, P.R., Hays, J.L., Elferink, L.A., Watowich, S.J., 2008. Biochemical basis for the functional switch that regulates hepatocyte growth factor receptor tyrosine kinase activation. Biochemistry 47, 4028–4038.
- Shevchenko, J.L., Kuznetsov, A.N., Ionova, T.I., Melnichenko, V.Y., Fedorenko, D.A., Kartashov, A.V., et al., 2012. Autologous hematopoietic stem cell transplantation with reduced-intensity conditioning in multiple sclerosis. Exp. Hematol. 40, 892–898.
- Shimojima, C., Takeuchi, H., Jin, S., Parajuli, B., Hattori, H., Suzumura, A., et al., 2016. Conditioned medium from the stem cells of human exfoliated deciduous teeth ameliorates experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. J. Immunol. 196, 4164–4171.
- Smalley, E., 2016. Neural stem cell trailblazer StemCells folds. Nat. Biotechnol. 34, 677–678.
- Soares, S., Sotelo, C., 2004. Adult neural stem cells from the mouse subventricular zone are limited in migratory ability compared to progenitor cells of similar origin. Neuroscience 128, 807–817.
- Spaggiari, G.M., Capobianco, A., Becchetti, S., Mingari, M.C., Moretta, L., 2006. Mesenchymal stem cell-natural killer cell interactions: evidence that activated NK cells are capable of killing MSCs, whereas MSCs can inhibit IL-2-induced NK-cell proliferation. Blood 107, 1484–1490.
- Stepien, A., Dabrowska, N.L., Maciagowska, M., Macoch, R.P., Zolocinska, A., Mazur, S., et al., 2016. Clinical application of autologous adipose stem cells in patients with multiple sclerosis: preliminary results. Mediat. Inflamm. 2016, 5302120.
- Sun, C., Zhang, H., Li, J., Huang, H., Cheng, H., Wang, Y., et al., 2010. Modulation of the major histocompatibility complex by neural stem cell-derived neurotrophic factors used for regenerative therapy in a rat model of stroke. J. Transl. Med. 8 (77).
- Sunwoo, M.K., Yun, H.J., Song, S.K., Ham, J.H., Hong, J.Y., Lee, J.E., et al., 2014. Mesenchymal stem cells can modulate longitudinal changes in cortical thickness and its related

cognitive decline in patients with multiple system atrophy. Front. Aging Neurosci. 6 (118).

- Tafreshi, A.P., Payne, N., Sun, G., Sylvain, A., Schulze, K., Bernard, C., 2014. Inactive GSK3beta is disturbed in the spinal cord during experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis, but rescued by stem cell therapy. Neuroscience 277, 498–505.
- Takahashi, K., Yamanaka, S., 2006. Induction of pluripotent stem cells from mouse embryonic and adult fibroblast cultures by defined factors. Cell 126, 663–676.
- Takahashi, K., Tanabe, K., Ohnuki, M., Narita, M., Ichisaka, T., Tomoda, K., et al., 2007. Induction of pluripotent stem cells from adult human fibroblasts by defined factors. Cell 131, 861–872.
- Thier, M., Worsdorfer, P., Lakes, Y.B., Gorris, R., Herms, S., Opitz, T., et al., 2012. Direct conversion of fibroblasts into stably expandable neural stem cells. Cell Stem Cell 10, 473–479.
- Trounson, A., McDonald, C., 2015. Stem cell therapies in clinical trials: progress and challenges. Cell Stem Cell 17, 11–22.
- Tse, W.T., Pendleton, J.D., Beyer, W.M., Egalka, M.C., Guinan, E.C., 2003. Suppression of allogeneic T-cell proliferation by human marrow stromal cells: implications in transplantation. Transplantation 75, 389–397.
- Tsuji, O., Miura, K., Fujiyoshi, K., Momoshima, S., Nakamura, M., Okano, H., 2011. Cell therapy for spinal cord injury by neural stem/progenitor cells derived from iPS/ES cells. Neurotherapeutics 8, 668–676.
- Tsukamoto, A., Uchida, N., Capela, A., Gorba, T., Huhn, S., 2013. Clinical translation of human neural stem cells. Stem Cell Res. Ther. 4 (102).Uccelli, A., Moretta, L., Pistoia, V., 2006. Immunoregulatory function of mesenchymal stem
- Uccelli, A., Moretta, L., Pistoia, V., 2006. Immunoregulatory function of mesenchymal stem cells. Eur. J. Immunol. 36, 2566–2573.
- Uccelli, A., Moretta, L., Pistoia, V., 2008. Mesenchymal stem cells in health and disease. Nat. Rev. Immunol. 8, 726–736.
- Van Harmelen, V., Rohrig, K., Hauner, H., 2004. Comparison of proliferation and differentiation capacity of human adipocyte precursor cells from the omental and subcutaneous adipose tissue depot of obese subjects. Metabolism 53, 632–637.
- Wang, L, Shi, J., van Ginkel, F.W., Lan, L., Niemeyer, G., Martin, D.R., et al., 2009. Neural stem/progenitor cells modulate immune responses by suppressing T lymphocytes with nitric oxide and prostaglandin E2. Exp. Neurol. 216, 177–183.
- Wang, X., Kimbrel, E.A., Ijichi, K., Paul, D., Lazorchak, A.S., Chu, J., et al., 2014. Human ESCderived MSCs outperform bone marrow MSCs in the treatment of an EAE model of multiple sclerosis. Stem Cell Rep. 3, 115–130.
- Wei, X., Yang, X., Han, Z.P., FF, Q., Shao, L., Shi, Y.F., 2013. Mesenchymal stem cells: a new trend for cell therapy. Acta Pharmacol. Sin. 34, 747–754.
- Weiss, J.N., Levy, S., Benes, S.C., 2015a. Stem Cell Ophthalmology Treatment Study (SCOTS) for retinal and optic nerve diseases: a case report of improvement in relapsing auto-immune optic neuropathy. Neural Regen. Res. 10, 1507–1515.
- Weiss, J.N., Levy, S., Malkin, A., 2015b. Stem Cell Ophthalmology Treatment Study (SCOTS) for retinal and optic nerve diseases: a preliminary report. Neural Regen. Res. 10, 982–988.
- Woodbury, D., Schwarz, E.J., Prockop, D.J., Black, I.B., 2000. Adult rat and human bone marrow stromal cells differentiate into neurons. J. Neurosci. Res. 61, 364–370.
- Yamout, B., Hourani, R., Salti, H., Barada, W., El-Hajj, T., Al-Kutoubi, A., et al., 2010. Bone marrow mesenchymal stem cell transplantation in patients with multiple sclerosis: a pilot study. J. Neuroimmunol. 227, 185–189.
- Yoo, J., Kim, H.S., Hwang, D.Y., 2013. Stem cells as promising therapeutic options for neurological disorders. J. Cell. Biochem. 114, 743–753.
- Yousefi, F., Ebtekar, M., Soleimani, M., Soudi, S., Hashemi, S.M., 2013. Comparison of in vivo immunomodulatory effects of intravenous and intraperitoneal administration of adipose-tissue mesenchymal stem cells in experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis (EAE). Int. Immunopharmacol. 17, 608–616.
- Yousefi, F., Ebtekar, M., Soudi, S., Soleimani, M., Hashemi, S.M., 2016. In vivo immunomodulatory effects of adipose-derived mesenchymal stem cells conditioned medium in experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. Immunol. Lett. 172, 94–105.
- Zacharaki, D., Lagoudaki, R., Touloumi, O., Kotta, K., Voultsiadou, A., Poulatsidou, K.N., et al., 2013. Characterization of in vitro expanded bone marrow-derived mesenchymal stem cells isolated from experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis mice. J. Mol. Neurosci. 51, 282–297.
- Zappia, E., Casazza, S., Pedemonte, E., Benvenuto, F., Bonanni, I., Gerdoni, E., et al., 2005. Mesenchymal stem cells ameliorate experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis inducing T-cell anergy. Blood 106, 1755–1761.
- Zhang, S.C., Wernig, M., Duncan, I.D., Brustle, O., Thomson, J.A., 2001. vitro differentiation of transplantable neural precursors from human embryonic stem cells. Nat. Biotechnol. 19, 1129–1133.
- Zhang, X., Bowles, A.C., Semon, J.A., Scruggs, B.A., Zhang, S., Strong, A.L., et al., 2014. Transplantation of autologous adipose stem cells lacks therapeutic efficacy in the experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis model. PLoS One 9, e85007.
- Zhang, C., Cao, J., Li, X., Xu, H., Wang, W., Wang, L., et al., 2016. Treatment of multiple sclerosis by transplantation of neural stem cells derived from induced pluripotent stem cells. Sci. China Life Sci.